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JI;/artis, 19° die Junii, 1855. 

Ordered, THAT a Select Committee be appointed to inquire into the circumstances of the 
Expedition to the Arctic Seas, commanded by Captain M'Clure, of the Royal Navy, with a 
view to ascertain whether any and what Reward may be due for the Services rendered OIl 

that occasion. 

Veneris, 29° die Junii, 1855. 

Committee nominated of,­

Mr. Mackinnon. 
Mr. Wilson. 
Lord Stanley. 
Admiral Walcott. 
Mr. Edward Ellice. 
:-;ir Thomas Herbert. 
Mr Ker Seymer. 
Mr . Jackson. 

Mr. Gordon. 
Sir Thomas Acland. 
Captain Scobell. 
Mr. Isaac Butt. 
Mr. Stephenson. 
Mr. Talbot. ' 
Sir Robert Peel. 

Ordered, THAT the Committee have power to send for Persons, Papers, and Records. 

Ordered, THAT Five be the Quorum of the Committee. 

Jovis, 5° die Julii, 1855. 

Ordered, THAT it be an instmct.ion to the Committee to examine into the Claims of 
Captains Collinson and Kellett, with a view to ascertain whether any and what Reward may 
be due to them for the Services rendered on the occasion of that Expedition. 

Veneris, 20° die Julii, 1855. 

Ordered, THAT the Committee have power to report their Observations, and the Minutes 
of Evidence taken before them, to The House. 
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REP 0 [ 1 1'. ~, 

THE SELECT COMMITTEE appointed to inquire into the Circumstances of 
the EXPEDITION to the ARCTIC SEAS, commanded by Captain Jf'Clure, 

of the Royal Navy, with a view to ascertain whether any and what Reward 
may be due for the Services rendered on that Occasion; and who 
were further instructed to examine into the Claims of Captains Collinson 

and Kellett, with a view to ascertain whether any and what Reward IIlay 
be due to them for the Services rendered on the Occasion of that 
Expedition; and who were empowered to report their Observations, and 
the Minutes of Evidence taken before them, to The House ;-

HAVING examined some of the most distinguished explorers of the Arctic 
Regions, including those who were ordered to relieve or ascertain the 

fate of the lamented Sir John Franklin, having also had before them the 
evidence of others well acquainted with the Polar Seas, and also the report and 
evidence of Captain M'Clure, have considered the other matters to them 
referred, and agreed to the following REPORT; 

The attempt to discover a water communication through the Arctic 
RegionI'; between the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans, is one which has engaged 
the attention of maritime nations, and especially that of Great Britain, for a 
period now extending over nearly three centuries. It has fallen to the lot 
of Captain M'Clure, his officers and crew, to set at rest this question. Tiley 
are undoubtedly the first who have passed by water from sea to sea, and han' 
returned to this country a living evidence of the existence of a North-west 
Passage. 

Rewards for the discovervof a North-west Passage have more than once 
be~n offered by Parliament. 'Successive Sovereigns l~ave encouraged the ente/'­
pnse, and men of science have, through succeeding generations, urged the 
attempt. In the earliest Arctic voyages no doubt a hope was entertained that 
!he North-west Passage would open a safe and speedy route to India; but this 
Idea was speedily abandoned, and for a long series of years the advancement of 
natural science and the extension of our knowledge of the globe appear to 
have been the sole incentives of these expeditions, which, sullied by no lust of 
conquest or selfish views, must ever be considered among the most disinterested 
of national undertakings; they have served to bring forward some of the best 
officers and bravest seamen in the British Navy, and have added greatly to the 
lustre of that service of which our maritime nation is so justly proud. With 
reference to the services of Captain M'Clure in the expedition, the circum­
stances of which Your Committee have been desired to investigate, the 
evidence adduced enables Your Committee to present the following concise 
account of the movements of Captain M'Clure, after the arrival in the Arctic 
Seas of Her Majesty's ship " Investigator" under his command. 

ABSTRACT OF THE EVIDE~CE PRODUCED. 

~n the 30th July 1850, the "Investigator" parted company with Her Capt. Kellett's Ev. 
MaJesty's ship ,- Ht:rald," Captain Kellett, oft' Cape Lisbu~ne, and stood to tl~e 
northward until the morning of the 2d August, when the Ice was first falle~ 111 
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with. in lat. 720 1 I, long. 1660 ] 2' w. Captain M'Clure work~d along its edge until 
midnight of the 5th, when Point Barrow was rounded .m. open water; .from 
this point his progress was beset with difficulties and am~letles of n~ ordm~ry 
character having to traverse an ice-encumbered sea hitherto considered Im­

See Capt. Pullen's practicabie for navigation. In this sea the "Investigator" continued ,her 
Evid~nce befo.re course along the north coast of America, and on the 30th August reached Cape 
ArNcuc C80mmltl~e, Bathurst having in the interval threaded her course amidst sand banks, and 
7 ov. 1 51; a so' • f h' I d' thick fog where Capt. Beechcy's heavy masses of ice, a great portIOn 0 t at time enve ope m , 
opinion, Question the lead was the only guide. 
1380• . f th Here finding that the ice pressed upon the shore, barrmg any ur. er 

advance, Captain lWClure anchored until the 1 st of .Sept~mber? when the Ice 
slightly moving enabled him to round the Cape, crossmg I'rankhn Bay, and on 
the morning of the 6th high land was observable .to the ~. E., and ?n t~e 7th 
Captain M'Clure landed on its souther~ extremIty, takmg pos~esSlOn I? th.e 
name of Her Most Gracious Majesty, WIth the usual ceremomes, nammg It 

M'Clure's Ev., 197 Baring's Land, after the First Lord of the Admiralty. Proceeding to the 
and fullowing. N. E., through continuous fogs, until the morning of the 9th, when, it clearing 

a little, high land was remarked, to which he gave the name of Prince Alhert; 
and on the 10th t,,·o small islands \vere passed, which were called after Her Royal 
Highnel"s the Princess Royal; the further advance of the " Investigator" was 
then impeded by ice setting in from the N. E., which beset her, and in which 
she drifted about the Straits in great peril, attached to a small piece of ice, 
drawing eight fathom water, until the 30th September, when she was firmly 
frozen in. Captain M'Clure, entertaining a strong impression that the waters 
in which the "Investigator" then lay communicated with those of Barrow's 

M'Clurc'~ E\·., 228 Strait, and that the important question of a North-west Passage might now be 
und following. solved, set out with a sledge and a few men on the 21 st of October for the 

purpose of testing this conviction, having previously left instructions for the 
guidance of the commanding officer, in the event of any disruption of the ice, 
or other casualties, preventing his return to the ship. 

On the 26th October, Captain M'Clure and his party reached Point 
Russell, and, having ascended an elevation of about 600 feet, commanding a 
very extensive view, had the gratification of finding that their arduous and 
most fatiguing journey had not been in vain, for beneath them lay the frozen 
waters of Parry or Melville Sound, proving, beyond doubt, that ., a north-west 
passage from the Atlantic to the Pacific Ocean existed." 

In honour of this event, Captain M'Clure named the strait, in which he had 
left the" Investigator," after His Royal Highness the Prince of Wales. 

The party reached the ship again on the 31st October, and remained frozen 
in until the 14th July 1851, when the ice broke up. Every effort was then 
~ade to get to Parry Sound; but in consequence of the quantity of ice coming 
m from the northward, these efforts were not attended with success. 

The ship's furthest advance being latitude i3.14 north, and longitude 115. 32 
west, Cap~ain lVl'Clure therefore determined on bearing up, and attempted 
a passage ~nto Parry S?und, to the westward, an~ along the shore of Baring's 
Land, wIuch he was mduced, from apparent CIrcumstances to consider an 
island. ' 

On ~he 14th Augus.t he accordingly returned southward, and, rounding 
Nelson s Head, made hIS way along the west shore of that island accomplishing 
what Captain M'Clure, in his published despatches, has styled' "The terrific 
pass~ge O! that t~rrible Polar S~a; " . an? on the 24th Septembe~, after several 
prOVIdentIal escapes, s~cce~ded m bnngmg the :' Investigator" into a bay on 
the northern coast, WhICh, m thankfulness for hIS preservation he has aopro­
l?rjatel~ named "The Bay of Mercy," and in the same night was firmly 
frozen m. 

It being now evident that the "Investigator" had taken up her winter 
q~arters, and her. relea.se upon the following season being doubtful, Captain 
M .Clure thought It adVisable. to place h~":,self, his officers and crew, upon two­
thlr.d allowanc~ of all ~pecles of prOVISIOn, and this was rigidly adhered to 
durmg the penod of 20 months, in a climate where a greater supply of food is 

required 
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required to sustain men in a healthy condition than in others more ·temperate. 
These privations were borne by the crew with uncomplaining fortitude, notwith­
standing its effects became painfully visible as their third winter drew towards 
its close, in all, by their altered personal appearance, and in some by their 
weakened mental faculties. 

On the lIth of April 1852 Captain M'Clure proceeded with a party by 
sledge to Winter Harbour, in Melville Island, depositing a cylinrler containing 
a summary of his proceedings, and returned to the ship on the 9th May, where 
he remained for 11 months. 

On the 6th April 1853 Captain M'Clure received a communication, brought Cart. Kellett's Ev .• 
by Lieutenant IJim, who had been dispatched frum Melville Islar:d by Captain 191 and following. 

Kellett, who had found the record left there by Captain M 'Clure in April 1852, 
and on the 7th crossed that portion of the Arctic Sea now called Banks' 
Strait, to that officer's ship, at Dealy Island, a small island off Melville Island, 
which he reached on the 19th, and having arranged with Captain Kellett that 
if 20 volunteers could be found to remain with him in the hope of extricating 
the" Investigator" during the navigable season of 1853, he had his pel'mi:,;-
sion to do so, if not, Captain M'Clure and his crew were to abandon their ship 
and join the" Resolute," Captain Kellett. 

About this period Lieutenant Creswell, of the "Investigator," was dis­
patched by Captain M'Clure to England to report the position of that ship. 

Captain M'Clure rejoined the "Investigator" on the 19th May, and finding 
that a sufficient number of men would not volunteer to remain, he was com­
pelled to leave the "Investigator" in the Bay of Mercy, which he did on June 
3d, and reached the "Resolute" on the 21 st. 

On the 18th August Captain M'Clure, his officers and crew, quitted Dealy 
Island in the" Resolute," and were again frozen south-west of Cape Cockburn, 
and remained there until the lOth April 1854, when Captain l\1'Clure and his 
crew proceeded by sledge 180 miles to join the" North Star," at Beechey Island, 
which they reached on the 27th. 

On the 26th of August they proceeded in her down Barrow's Straits, across 
Baffin's Bay, to Disco, on the west· coast of Greenland, where Captain M'Clure 
was transferred, early in September, to the "Phrenix," under the command of 
Captaiu Inglefield, a very distinguished Arctic navigator, who in another direction 
had penetrated, by Smith's Sound, to the 78" 361 N. degree of latitude: they 
arrived safe at Cork on the 30th of the same month, having been four years 
and eight months in effecting a passage between the Great Pacific and Atlantic 
Oceans, performing what has been so graphically described by an American 
writer of some celebrity, Lieutenant Maury, of the United States Navy, "That 
Captain M'Clure and his followers were the first to put a girdle round the great 
continent of America." 

The evidence places beyond doubt that to Captain l\l'Clure incontestably 
belongs the distinguished honour of having been the first to perform the 
actual passage over water along the 1\ orthern Coast of America, between the 
two great oceans that encircle the globe. By this achievement he has demon­
strated the existence, and traced the course of that connexion between these 
oceans, which, under the name of the North-west Pa~sage, has so long been 
the object of perilous search and deep interest to the nations of the civilised 
world. 

In addition to the complp.tion of a North-west Passage, Captain M'Clure 
and his officers have explored. about 2,000 miles of coast line, where a blank has 
hitherto existed in our charts. 

In the accomplishment of this exploit, Caprain lWClure exhibited those high 
qualities of enterprise, heroism, and endurance, which h&Ye indeed been the 
common characteristics of the bra'·e navigators who haw carried the researches 
of British adventure far beyond the confines of the frozen seas, which at one 
time seemed inaccessible, even to the skill and cour<lge of Uritish seamen. 
In the discovery of the double passage from the western waters of the Polar 
Ocean, to the strait which Parry had many years ago reached from the ea!'t, 
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Captain M'Clure has had the good fortune to complete the. last link in th~ chairtr 

of discovery to which many intrepid and persevering enterprIses have cont~Ibuted. 
Few passages in the history of naval enterprise can command a deeper mterest: 
than belongs to the position of Captain M 'Clure in the autun;tn of 18~ l. In 
the previous autumn he had penetrated to the northern extremIty ~f Prmce of 
Wales' Strait, a channel discovered by himself, and had reached at Its entrance 
the frozen waters of Parry's Sound. Baffled by the ice in his attempt to fo~ce 
his ship into those waters by that channel, he attempted another course. WIth 
almost instinctive saO'acity he came to the conclusion that the unknown and 
unexplored land to the westward of the strait through which he had passed, was 
an island, and that along its northern coast there must be anothe: passage 
from the open ocean into Melville Sound. He took the bold res~lutlOn t~ .re­
trace his steps to the southward, and attempt to reach the same pomt by sailing 
round an unexplored tract of land; and braving the perils of a coast navigation, 
exposed to the pressure of the Polar Ocean. Your Committee have already 
recorded the verification of his bold conjecture, and the successful issue of this 
daring enterprise. Ample and honourable testimony has also been borne to 
the intrepidity with which he braved, and the jud~ment with which he met, the 
perils which attended his attempt; and Your Committee cordially unite in the 
tribute of admiration which this testimony has offered to the combination of 
prudence and daring which marked his conduct in the adventurous achievement 
in which he has succeeded. 

Your Committee feel great satisfaction in being able to recommend that these 
special services should be recompensed by an appropriate pecuniary reward. 
For many years a reward of 20,000 t. was offered for the first person who should 
complete the North-west Passage, by actually sailing with his ship from one 
ocean to another. In the year 1818 that reward was modified by proposing 
that a sum of 

£.5,000 should be paid for passing -

£.5,000 " " 

£.5,000 
" " 

- 110· West Longitude. 
_ 120· 

- 130· 
" 
" 

The arrangements under which these rewards were offered were sanctioned 
by Acts of Parliament. It appears that the sum of 5,000 l. has been already 
paid to Sir Edward Parry for having passed one of the degrees of longitude 
for which the partial reward was offered. 

In 1828 these Acts were repealed. Your Committee do not refer to them 
as determining the question which has been submitted to their consideration, 
but as supplying, in some respects, a guide to them in estimating the sums 
which ought to he appropriated as the recompense for services of the same 
nature with those for which the Acts of Parliament offered the reward. 

I 

Your Committee, under all the circumstances, recommend that a sum of 
10,000 t. should be appropriated to Captain M 'Clure and the officers and crew 
of the" Investigator." 

Of this sum they recommend that, as a personal tribute to his energy, 
bravery, and skill, a sum of 5,000 t. should be appropriated to Captain M'Clure, 
and the 5,000 l. be distributed, under the directions of the Admiralty, between 
the officers and the crew. 

Upon the most careful consideration, Your Committee have come to the 
conclusion, that there would be great difficulty in their making any recommen­
dation that would extend the principle of pecuniary reward further than it has 
been sanctioned by the spirit of the Acts of Parliament to which they have 
referred. They therefore forbear from making any recommendation of this 
nature, except in the case of. those. whose good foytune it was first to complete 
and make known the enterprIse whIch, from an early period had been made the 
object of a distinct and specific rewaru. ' 

In this d~cision they have not been influenced by any want of appreciation 
of the me:Its of t~e two ?rave. and distinguished officers whose services they 
were. speCIally deSIred to I~vestigate at a period subsequent to the original . 
appomtment of Your CommIttee, or of the many other intrepid and distinguished 

men 
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men who ~ave at different. periods so n~bly ~raved the perils and privations of 
a voyage III the Polar RegIOns. In dealing WIth a matter so difficult of adjust­
ment, Your Committee have felt that their prudent course was to confine such 
a recommendatio~ to ~ case in which they have pr~cedent and authority to 
guide them, and III whIch the performance of a specIfic service makes in itself 
a distinction, which upon any ground of the general claim of enterprise and 
bravery it would be difficult, if not impossible, to draw. 

Your Committee having been instructed by The House to investigate the claims Capt. Collinson's 
of Captains Collinson and Kellett, two very distinguished officers, have, in com- Ev., 3.20 and 
pliance therewith, taken evidence, from which it appears that Captain Collinson folJowmg. 
was the senior officer of the expedition fitted out to search for and succour 
Sir J. Franklin, and afterwards to proceed to Melville Island; that in July 1850 
Captain Collinson parted company with Captain M'Clure in a gale of wind after 
passing the Straits of Magellan, and did not meet him again; that Captain 
Collinson entered Prince of \Yales's Strait ,yithout being ;man' of its preyious 
discovery by Captain M'Clure; until he reached Princess Royal Islands, where 
he found a record left by that officer; that he forced his way along Prince of 
Wales's Strait to the entrance of Parry's Sound: that he was compelled by the 
ice to return, and that, in the subsequent spring, exploring parties were sent out 
from his ship, one of which reached Melville I5land about 20 days after it had 
been first visited by Captain 3i'Clure. 

Your Committee cannot refrain from exprel"sing their high sense of the skill, 
judgment, and perseyerance l'I'ill('('d by Captain Collinson in' pushing his ship 
through Dolphin and Union Straits to a point many degrees further eastward 
than has ever been attained by any other H'ssel passing from the west along 
the northern shores of America, and in successfully extricating her from the 
embarrassments of so perilous a position. 

They also feel it incumbent upon them to notice the (leh'rmination of this 
gallant officer to return to the ea"tward in search of hi:-; missing ('()n~()rt previ­
ously to baving communicated with Her ';\laj(·~ty's ship ,. Plon'l'," and from her 
obtained intelligence of Captain M'Clure's safety; nor can they omit to men­
tion the bold attempt made by him in the year 1850 to penetrate to the north­
ward into the heart of the Polar Sea, where he was stopped in latitude i3 k by 
an impenetrable barrier of ice. 

In reference to the evidence regarding Captain Kellett, which was giYt'll with 
much modesty by that distinguished officer, who harl already ~erved with great 
credit in the Arctic Seas for many years, it appears that immediately 011 his 
return to England, after having seen both Captain Collinson and Captain 
M'Clure enter the ice at Behring's Straits, Captain Kellett volunteered to 
accompany the expedition of Sir E. Belcher. He proceeded to l\Ieh'ille Island, 
and whilst wintering there, at Dealy Island, having discovered a record left by 
Captain M'Clure in the preceding year, he was enabled to relieve that officer 
from his perilous position in l\Jercy Bay, by sending to his aid an expedition 
under the command of Lieutenant Bedford Clappt'rtOlI Pim. It i~ impot;sible 
to exaggerate the importance of this succour. In the words of Captain :\ I 'Clurv, 
the officers and men of the "Investigator" w(,re "at once raised from despon­
~ency to the height of exultation and delight." \Yithout this timely assistance 
It may be doubted whether Captain M'Clure could have reached Beechey Islaud ; 
if this could have been performed by Captain M'Clure and a few hardy men 
of his crew, the remainder would have had little chance of their lives. and might 
have shared the fate of Sir John Franklin, in place of being now in their native 
land, In concluding these remarks on a North-west Passage, Your Committee 
cannot but express their satisfaction that the long-sought-for problem has at 
length been solved by this country, and that another ray has been added to the 
maritime glory of the British Empire. 

While Your Committee have not felt justified in recommending that the 
principle of a pecuniary compensation should be carried beyond the case of the 
commander, officers, and crew who actually achieved the objects sanctioned 
by an Act of Parliament, they cannot ?ut co~side~ it their .d~ty ~o sugg.est 
that the country at large would hail WIth satIsfactIOn any dlstmctIOns wincil 
might be conferred, not only upon the officers whose names have been 
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referred to Your Committee, but upon others who are no less honourably 
connected with the perils and the exertions that have a~tended the explo­
ration of the Arctic Seas. For the last 30 years, and also s~n~e t~e loss of the 
gallant and lamented Sir John Franklin, some of the most dJstmgUls~ed o~cers 
of the British Navy have been commissioned to explor.e the Arct~~ r.egIOns, 
and in so doing have encountered great dangers, hardshIps. and priVatIOns of 
every description, much more severe and less endurable than those usually. met 
with in ordinarv maritime warfare. It is cm:tomary to award clasps to mIhtary 
prowess in the field. Service in the Arctic regions may well.be dee~ed .worthy of 
similar distinction. Her Majesty's gracious recommendatlO~ has mVlted Your 
Committee to consider the proper mode of rewarding the officers whose names 
have been specially referred to them. Your Committee therefore venture to 
suggest that there are marks of honour and distinction which, by brave ~nd high­
spirited men, would be valued even more highly tha? ~hat rewa~~ w~llch Your 
Committee have felt compelled to confine to those Wlthm the spmt, 1f not the 
letter, of the legislative enactment which original}.y offered it. 

1 n connexion with this subject, Your Committee beg to direct attention to the 
evidence, which establishes that the grant of a medal to all those of every rank 
and class engaged in the several Arctic Expeditions, would be received with great 
satisfaction. Your Committee feel persuaded that such a medal would honour 
deeds of heroism, which, though not accompanied by the excitement and the 
glory of the battle-field, yet rival in bravery and devotion to duty the highest 
and most succes&ful achievements of war. 

The names of no other officers having been referred to Your Committee, Your 
Committee is of opinion that it might be invidious to particuiarise individuals 
where all have not only performed their duty but earned distinction; never­
theless Your Committee desire, in connexion with this branch of their Report, 
to call attention to the fact, that in addition to officers and men of the Royal Navy, 
many high-spirited individuals connected with the Hudson's Bay Company and 
the merchant service have nobly exerted themselves in the search after Sir 
J. Franklin, and have gained distinguished positions in the annals of Arctic 
Discovery. Their labours have also been shared by natives of France and of 
the United States, with similar energy and zeal. 

Your Committee would particularly allude to the United States Expedition. 
equipped through the philanthropic exertions of Henry Grenel, Esq., and 
commanded by Captain de Haven. 

Great praise is due to the commanders and crews of the small vessels sent out 
by Lady Franklin. Your Committee cannot but express a hope that these brave 
and enterprising men may be admitted to share in any honorary distinction 
awarded to those who have taken part in these services. 

An accidental and early death cut short the already distinguished career of 
the gallant and unfortunate Bellot, and Your Committee have learnt with deep 
regret that the last few days have removed, beyond the reach of any honours 
whi.ch it may please the Sovereign to bpstow, a veteran explorer of these frozen 
regI~ns, ~hose name must ever be inseparably connected with the history of 
ArctIc DIsco~ery. The islands and channels of this perilous sea, which are now 
accurately laId down, and whose names are familiar words to us were unknown 
and un~iscovered when Sir Edward Parry first entered the ice, t~ encounter the 
hardshIps and dangers of a then almost untried naVigation. 

. Bef~re .con~l~ding their Report, Your Committee beg to allude to an incident 
m theIr mqull'les, a reference to which will at all events enable them to do 
justice to feelings which have commanded their deepest sympathy and respect. 

"-hile the inquiry before Your Committee was proceeding, the Chairman of 
Y our Committee received a letter from Lady Franklin, which is printed in the 
Appendix to the Report. 

It is scarcely necessary to say, that neither in their investigations nor in this 
R~port. ~aye You~ Commi.ttee in the slightest degree interfered with anything 
winch It IS the object of thIS noble and touching appeal to preserve. Your Com~ 
mittee cannot determine the extent to which it may yet be found that Sir John, 

Franklin 
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Franklin and his companions had carried those discoveries to which they sacri­
ficed their lives. 

Whatever may have been their extent, this is certain, that a North-west Pas­
sage having been performed, it was in the search for Sir John Franklin that it 
was incidentally achieved. It may almost literally be said that it was his spirit 
which pointed out the way. Future investigations may perhaps determine the 
precise point of the path of discovery at which it pleased Providence that his 
labours should cease; but however this may be, it never can be forgotten that 
it was in the attempt to trace his steps, that this path was successfully pursued, 
and only because men worthy to be his followers went where they hoped and 
believed that he had already gone before. 

20 July 1855. 

-------------_. 
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMI'ITEE. 

Luntf, 20 die Julii, 1855. 

Mr. Mackinnon. 
Captain Scobell. 
Lord Stanley. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Sir Thomas Herbert. 
Mr. Gordon. 
Admiral Walcott. 

Motion made (Captain Scobell), and question, "That Mr. Mackinnon do take the Chair," 
put, and agreed to. 

Committee deliberated on its course of proceedings. 
Captain Sir George Back, R. N., and Captain Kellett, R. N., Examined. 

[Adjourned to To-morrow, at Twelve o'clock. 

Martis, 3° die Julii, 1855. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Mr. MACKINNON, in the Chair. 

Admiral Walcott. 
Sir Thomas Herbert. 
Mr. Edward Ellice. 
Lord Stanley. 
Mr. Talbot. 

Mr. Gordon. 
Captain Scobell. 
Mr. Stevenson. 
Sir Robert Peel. 
Mr. Isaac Butt. 

The following witnesses were examined: Captain Sir James Ross, R.N., Captain Kellett, R.N., 
Captain 1Vashington, R.N., Captain M'Clure, R.N. 

Committee deliberated. 

[Adjourned to Friday, at One o'clock. 

Veneris, 7° die Julii, 1855. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Mr. MACKINNON, in the Chair. 

Mr. Edward Ellice. Sir Thomas Acland. 
Admiral Walcott. Mr. Wilson. 
Sir Thomas Herbert. Mr. Jackson. 
Sir Robert Peel. Mr. Ker Seymour. 
Mr. Gordon. Mr. Isaac Butt. 
Captain Scobell. Mr. Stevenson. 

Order of The House read, that it be an instruction to the Committee to examine into 
the claims of Captains Collinson and Kellett, with a view to ascertain whether any and 
what reward may be due to them for the services rendered on the occasion of that 
Expedition. 

Committee deliberated. 

Sir Roderick Murchison and Dr. Domville examined. 
Committee deliberated. 

Admiral Hamilton and Captain Collinson examined. 

[Adjourned to Tuesday, at One o'clock. 
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Martis, 100 die Julii, 1855. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

:Mr. MACKINNON, in the Chair. 

Sir Robert Peel. 
Admiral Walcott. 
Captain Scobell. 
Sir Thomas Aclami. 
Mr. Gordon. 
Lord Stanley. 

The Committee deliberated. 

Sir Thomas Herbert. 
Mr. Butt. 
Mr. Jackson. 
Mr. Stevenson. 
Mr. Talbot. 

xi 

[Adjourned to Friday next, at Twelve o'clock. 

Veneris, 14° die Julii, 1855. 

MElIlBERS PRESENT: 

':\Ir. MACKINNON, in thc Chair. 

Sir Thomas Acland. Admiral Walcott. 
Lord Stanley. Sir Robert Peel. 
Captain Scobell. Mr. Jackson. 
Mr. Gordon. Mr. Ker Seymer. 
Sir Thomas Herbert. Mr. Butt. 
~Ir. Stevenson. 

Draft Report proposed by the Chairman, read 10
, as follows:-

"YOUR Committee havinO' examined some of the most distinguished explorers of the Arctic 
R.egions, including those wl~o were ordered to relieve or asccrtain the fate of the lamented 
Sir John Frankliu, having also had before them thc evidence of others well acquainted with 
the Polar Seas, and also the report amI evidence of Captain M'Clure, cannot but consider 
that a North-west Passage has been discovered, the concise account of which is as 
follows: 

ABSTRACT OF THE EVIDENCE PRODUCED. 

"On the 30th July 1850, the' Investigator' parted company with Her Majesty's ship 
, Herald,' Captain Kellett, oft' Cape Lisburne, and stood to the N. N. W. until the morning 
of the 2d August, when the ice was first fallen in with in lat. 720 I', long. 166" 12' w. 
Captain M'Clure worked alonO' its edge until midnight of the 5th, when Point Barrow was 
rounded in open water; from this point his progress was beset With difficulties and anxieties 
?f no ordinary character, having to traverse an ice-encumbered sea hitherto considered 
Impracticable for naviO'ation.· In this sea the 'Investigator' continued her course along 
~he north coast of Ame~ica, and on the 30th August reached Cape Bathurst, having in the 
mterval threaded her course amidst sand banks, and heavy masses of ice, a great portion 
of that time enveloped in thick fog, where the lead was the only guide. 

" Here finding that the ice pressed upon the shore, barring any further advance, Captain 
M'Clure anchored until the 1st of September, when the ice slightly moving enabled him to 
round the Cape, crossinO' Franklin Bay, and on the morning of the 6th high land was observ­
able to the N. E., and gn the 7th Captain M'Clure landed on its southern extremity, taking 
possession in the name of Her Most Gracious Majesty, with the usual ceremonies, naming 
It Baring's Land, after the First Lord of the Admiralty. Proceeding to the N. E., through 
continuous fogs, until the morning of the !Hh, when, it clearing a little, high land was 
remarked, to which he gave the name of Prince Albert; and on the 10th two islands were 
passed, which were called after Her Royal l-Jighness the Princess Royal; the further 
advance of the 'Investicrator' was then impeded by ice setting in from the N. E., which 
bes~t her, and in which ~he drifted about the :Straits in great peril, attached to a small piece 
?f Ice, drawing eight fathom water, until the 30th ~cptembcl', when she was firmly frozen 
m. Captaiu M'Clure, entcrtruninO' a strOll!! imprcssion that the wa~ers in which the 

,,~ I . , 
409· b ~ , nvcsligator 

Capt. Kellett's Ev. 

M'Clnre'. Ev., No. 
188 and following. 

See Captain PulIen'. 
Evidence belore Arctic 
Committee. i Nov. 
1851; also Captain 
Beechey's opinion, 
Question 1380. 

M'Clure's Ev., 197 
and following. 
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M'Clure's Ev., 228 ' Investigator' then lay communicated with those of Barrow Str~it, and that the important 
and following. question of a north-west passage might now be solved, .set out. w.lth a sle?ge and:" few men 

on the 21st of October, for the purpose of testing thls C?nvlCtlOn, havmg pre-YlOusl:y left 
instructions for the !!1)idance of the commanding officer, m the e\ ent of any dlsruptlOn of 
the ice, or other casu~lties, preventing his return to the ship. 

" On the 26th October, Captain lWClure and his small par~y reached Point. Rus.sell, 
and havinO' ascended an elevation of about 600 feet commandmg a very extenslve Vlew, 
hal the gr~tification of finding that their arduous and most fatig?ing jou.rney had not been 
in vain, for beneath them lay the frozen waters of Barr?w's Strmt, provl~g beyond doubt, 
that 'a north-west passage from the Atlantic to the Paclfic Ocean eXlsted. 

" In honour of this event, Captain M'Clure named the strait, in which he had left the 
, Investigator,' after His Royal Highness the Prince of Wales. 

" The party reached the ship on the 31st, which remained frozen in until the .14th J u~y 
1851, when the ice broke up. Every effort was then made to get tu Barrow Stralts; but m 
consequence of the quantity of ice coming in from the northward, these efforts were not 
attended with success. 

"The ship's furthest advance being latitude 73.14 north, and longitude ~ 15.32 west, 
Captain M'Clure therefore determined on bearing up, and attempted a passage mto Barrow 
Straits to the westward of Baring's Land, which he was induced, from apparent circum­
stances, to consider an island. 

" On the 14th August he accordingly returned southward, and, rounding Nel~on's Head, 
made his way along the west shore of that island, accomplishing what Captain M'Clure, 
in his published despatches, has styled, ' The terrific passage of that terrible Polar Sea;' 
and on the 24th September, after several providential escapes, succeeded in bringing the 
, Investigator' into a bay ou the north-west coast, which, in thankfulness for his preserva­
tion, he has appropriately named 'The Bay of Mercy,' and in the same night was firmly 
frozen in. 

" It being now evident that the' Investigator' had taken up her winter fluarters, and 
her release upon the fullowing season being doubtful, Captain IVl'Clure thought it 
advisable to place himself, his officers and crew, upon two-third allowance of all species of 
provision, and this was rigidly adhered to during the period of 20 months, in a climate 
where a greater supply of food is required to su,tain men in a healthy condition than in 
others more temperate. These privations were borne by the crew with uncomplaining forti­
tude, notwithstanding its effects became painfully visible as their third winter drew towards 
its close, in all, by their altered personal appearance, and in some by their weakened mental 
faculties. 

" On the 11th of April 1852, Captain lWClure proceeded by sledge to Winter Harbour, 
in Melville Island, depositing a cylinder containing a summary of his proceedings, and 
returned to the ship on the 9th May. 

Capt. Kellett's Ev., ." On the 6th April 1853, Captain M'Clure received a communication, brought by 
191 and following. LIeutenant Pim from Captain Kellett, and on the 7th crossed Barrow's Straits to that 

officer's ship, at Dealy Island, which he reached on the 19th, and having arranged with 
Captain Kellett that if 20 volunteers could be found to remain with him in the hope of 
extricating. the 'Investigator' during the navigable season of 1853, he had his permission 
to do so; If not, Captain M'Clure and his crew were to abandon their ship and join the 
, Resolute.' 

"<;aptain M'Clure rejoined the' Investigator' on the 19th May, and finding that a 
suffiCIent number of men could not be found to remain, he was compelled to leave the 
, investigator' in the Bay of Mercy, which he did on June 3d, and reached the' Resolute' 
on the 21st . 

.. On the 18th August quitted Dealy Island in the' Resolute,' and was again frozen 
south-west of Cape Cockburn, and remained there until the 10th April 1854, when Captain 
lWClure and his crew proceeded by sledge 180 miles to join the 'North Star,' at Beechey 
Island, which they reached on the 27th. 

" On the 26th of August proceeded in her down Barrow's Straits, across Baffin's Bay, to 
Disco, on the west coast of Greenland, where Captain l\'['Clure was transferred to the 
, Phrenix' early in September, and arrived safe at Cork on the 30th of the same month, 
having been four years and eight months in effecting a passage between the Great Pacific 
and Atlantic Oceans, performing what has been so quaintly described by an American 
writer of some .celebrity, Lieutenant Maury, of the U~ted States Kavy, 'That Captain 
M'CI~re and his followers were the first to put a gtrdle round the great continent of 
Amenca.' 

"Independently of the discovery of a North-west Passacre, which has been for some 
centux:ies ru;t object of peril?us search by many, and of deep 'interest to the world at large, 
C:aptam ~ Clure has contributed upwards of 2,000 miles of coast line, where a blank pre­
vlOusly eXlsted on our charts. 

" It 
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" It appears that formerly a reward of 20,000 l. was assigned to any person who performed 
the whole of the North-west Passage. After the year 1818 this reward was modified and 
divided into four equal parts, as follows ;-

5,000 I. for passing 
5,000 l. for passing 
5,000 l. for passing 

and the additional 5,000 l. for going through. 

"It further appears that Captain M'Clure'passed-

1300 about 1st September 1850; 
120' about 7th September 1850; 

- 110' 
- 1200 

- 130' 

110° about April 1851; and on 26th October 1851 completed the passage. 

"From these sums 5,000 l. was awarded to Sir Edward Parry. There remains, there­
fore, the sum of 15.000 l unappropriated, from which Your Committee think that a sum of 

l. might be appropriated for Captain lWClure, a sum to his officers of 
a sum to his crew of 

" An Order from the Honse of Commons having reached this Committee to investigate Capt. Collinson'. Ev., 
the claims of Captains Collinson and Kellett, two most brave and distinguished officers, 320 and following. 
Your Committee, in compliance with the directions of The House, have examined several 
witnesses, from whose evidence it appears that Captain Collinson was the senior officer amI 
commander of the expedition fitted out to search for and succour Sir J. Franklin, if alive, 
and afterwards to proceed to Melville Islaud; that Captain Collinson parted company in a 
gale of wind after passing the ~traits of Magellan, and did not meet again; and that Cap-
tain Collinson had also the merit of exploring a North-west PassaO'e about 12 months after 
it was discovered by Captain l\1'Clure. 0 

" In reference to the investigation regarding Captain Kellett, which was given by that Capt. Kellett's Ev., 
distinguished officer with singular modesty, it appears that he performed a very great service No. 140 and following. 
in discovering Captain M'Clure, by sending Lieutenant Pim, by which means Captain 
M'Clure was, with his crew, rescued from a lIl()~t perilous situation. \Vithout this timely 
assistance there is a great doubt whether Captain lH'Clure could have reached Beechey 
Island; if this could have been performed by Captain l\I'Clure and a fcw hardy men of his 
crew, the remainder would have had little chance of their liv('~. and might have shared the 
fate of Captain Franklin, in place of being now in their native lund. In concluding those 
remarks on a North-west Passage, Your Committee cannot but express their satisfac-
tion that the long-sought-for problem ha~ at length been solved by this country, and that 
another ray has been added to the maritime glory of the British Empire. 

" Another question has arisen for the consideration of Your Committee. to which they 
deem it their duty to call particular attenti()n. For the la,.;t 30 years, and also since the loss of 
the gallant and lamented Sir John Franklin, some of the most (listinguished officers of the 
British Navy have been commissioned to explore the Arctic Regions, and in so doing have 
encountered great dangers, hardships and privations of every description, much more severe 
and less endurable than those usually met with in ordinary maritime warfare. Your Com­
mittee need scarcely enumerate them. mch as Back, Beechey, Belcher, Collinson, Inglefield, 
Kellett, M'Clure, Parry, Ross, &c.; these brave and gallant men would be gratified were 
they to receive some mark of their services frum their Sovereign. A clasp is awarded for 
every battle in which the military are engaged; a year of service in the Polar Seas is far 
more dangerous, irksome, and trying than even a gallant battle. Commanders, officers, 
and crews would indeed feel it a noble reward for their conduct, were they so rewarded. 
Herewith is appended the evidence on the subject befure Your Committee; 

" '276. Chairman.] I wish to ask you a question upon another subject, which I consider 
of very great importance for our consideration; I think that, some time ago, you stated 
to the Royal Geographical Society that, in your opinion, th08.e individuals who had explored 
the Arctic Seas had shown so much courage, so much devotion. and so much perseverance 
amongst the hardships to which they were exposed, that if they did not meet with a sub­
stantial reward, they ouo-ht, at least, to receive from the country the reward of some honorary 
distinction, such as a mOedal. Do you continue of that opinion n?w ~-:-l n.ot only continue 
of that opinion, but I feel most strongly tl~at the c?un.try owes this dIstlllctlOn to ~very one 
of those brave men who were ready to sacrIfice theIr hves, and underwent such penIs as the 
Arctic explorers did. I am quite of opinion that not only geographers, but that all naval and 
military men, and every man who has ever thought upon the subje?t, \\il~ cons ide: that ~he 
men who have so perilled their lives, and have shown so much nautical sklll, combllled WIth 
Buch perseverance and courage, ought to be distinguished exactly in. the same ~anner as 
those who peril their lives, whether it be at ~ebastopol, or formerly III the Pemnsula. I 
am sure that I only express the general feeling- of the eo~ntry, ~hat all those brave men 
ought to be so honoured; and, if you will allow me to say It, I thlllk ~hat there are. some. of 
them, at least three, who well merit still higher honours. I am qUIte sure that lU saylllg 
this I express the opinion of many geographers also. 

" '277. Will you name the three ?-In the order of rank in which they stand, Kellett, 
Collinson, and M'Clure. 

409. b 3 .. , 278. Captain 
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" '278. Captain Scobell.] In suggesting the very proper reward of a medal for the navi­
gators in the Arctic Ocean, do not you think that if gi yen at all, it ought to be extended to 
the officers, and to every seaman ?-I meant it so. 

'" 279. Sir T. Acland.] You alluded also to higher hon.ours as bein~ due to some 
among them?-Y es; if I may be allowed to extend my .'Vl~h, .r should Include anoth~r 
naval captain, who though he did not make the passage, dId It In. part. r .mean Captain 
Inglefield, whose voyage I have al.ways thought .very remarkab!e In expl~mng to a more 
northern point than anyone else In search of SIr John Franklin. Lookmg at the whole 
case, we geographers have but one feeling, which is that of admiration of all the gentlemen 
who have been employed in this search. 

" '280. Mr. Ellice.] You think it very des~able that in every. c~se a medal should be 
<riven to all those officers and men ?-UnquestIOnably. I am of OpInIOn that all the seamen, 
~s well as the officers should receive an Arctic medal. I further think that all the explorers 
in search of Frankli~, whether by land or by water, and whether they be in Her Majesty's 
service or not should be honoured with an Arctic medal. Such men as Rae, Penny, 
Kennedy, Ste~art, Sutherland, and others, should not be ~mitted; and r ,,:ould suggest 
that the American officers, De Haven, Kane, &c., who have aIded so zealously In the search, 
should also have the same honours.' " 

Proposed Report read 2° paragraph by paragraph. 

Paragraph 1 read, amended, and agreed to. 

Motion made (Mr. Gordon) to insert following paragraphs:-
"That the attempt to discover a water communication through the Arctic Regions 

between the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans, is one which has engaged the attention of maritime 
nations, and especially that of Great Britain, for a period now extending over nearly three 
centuries. It has fallen to the lot of Captain M'Clure, his officers and crew, to set at rest 
this question. They are undoubtedly the first who have passed by water from sea to 
sea, and have returned to this country a living evidence of the existence of a North-west 
Passage. 

"Rewards for the discovery of a North-west Passage have more than once been offered 
by Parliament. Successive Sovereigns have encouraged the enterprise, and men of science 
have, throuO'h succeeding generations, urged the attempt. In the earliest Arctic voyages no 
doubt a hope was entertained that the North-west Passage would open a safe and speedy 
route to India; but this idea was speedily abandoned, and for a long series of years the 
advancement of natural science and the extension of our knowledge of the globe appear t.o 
have been the sole incentives of these expeditions, which, sullied by no lust of conf}uest or 
selfish views, must ever be considered among the most disinterested of national undertakings; 
they have served to bring forward some of the best officers and bravest seamen in the British 
Navy, and have added greatly to the lustre of that service of which our maritime nation is 
so justly proud. With reference to the services of Captain M 'Clure in the expedition, the 
circumstances of which Your Committee have been desired to investigate, the evidence 
adduced enables Your Committee to present the following concise account of the movements 
of Captain M'Clure, after the arrival in the Arctic Seas of Her Majesty's ship' Investigator' 
under his command." 

Question, "That these paragraphs be inserted in the proposed Report," put, and agreed to. 

Several paragraphs read, amended, and agreed to. 

The following paragraph read :-" Independently of the discovery of a North-west Pas­
~age, which has been for some cent.uries an object of peri!ous search by many, and of deep 
mterest to the world at large, Captam M'Clure has contnbuted upwards of 2,000 miles of 
coast line, where a blank previously existed on our charts." 

Amendment proposed (~Ir. Butt), To strike out the paraO'raph, and insert the foliowinO' 
instead thereof:- I:> I:> 

"The evidence places beyond doubt that to Captain lWClure incontestably belongs the 
distinguished honour of havi~g been the first to perform the actual passage over water along 
th~ Nor.thern Coast of AmerIca, between th~ two great oceans that encircle the globe. By 
thIS achIevement he has demonstrated the eXIstence, and traced the course of that connexion 
between these oceans, which, under the name of the North-west PassaO'e has so long been 
the object of perilous search and deep interest to the nations of the civil:ed world. 

"In additio.n to the co~pletion of a North-west Passage, Captain M 'Clure has explored 
about 2,000 miles of coast hne, where a blank has hitherto existed in our charts. 

"In ~he acco?lplishment of this expl?it, Captain M'Clure exhibited those high qualities of 
enterprIse, herOIsm, and endurance, whICh have indeed been the common characteri~tiCB of 
the brave navigators who have .carried the .researches o~ Britis~ adventure far beyond the 
confines of th~. frozen seas, whIch at one tIme seemed maccesslble, even to the skill and 
courage of BrltI~h seamen. Ample and honourable testimony has been borne before Your 

Committee 
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Commi~tee t~ the intrepidi~y with which he braved, an~ the judgment with which he met, 
the t>e~s whl~h attt;nded ~lS attempt; and Your Com~ltte~ cordially unite in the tribute of 
admIratIon whICh this testImony has offered to the combmatlOn of prudence and daring which 
marked his conduct in the adventurous achievement in which he has succeeded." 

Question, ".That the paragraph proposedto be left out, stand part of the proposed Report," 
put, and negatIved. 

Question, "That the paragraphs proposed by Mr. Butt be there inserted in the proposed 
Report," put, and agreed to. 

Motion made and question put (Mr. Butt) :-" That the consideration of the remaininO' 
paragraphs be postponed until the Committee determine, by preliminary resolutions, what 
course they will adopt with reference to recommending a pecuniary reward in the case of 
each of the officers whose names have been referred to them," put, and agreed to. 

Further consideration of the proposed Report postponed accordingly. 

Motion made and question (Mr. Butt): "That in the opinion of the Commitee, Captain 
M'Clure, and his officers and crew, ought to be recommended to receive a pecuniary reward," 
put, and agreed to. 

Motion made, and question proposed (Mr. Jackson), " That the sum of 5,0001. be awarded 
to Captain M'Clure, and 5,000l. to his officers and crew, as the Admiralty may direct."­
Amendment proposed (Captain Scobell), To leave out from the word" That" to the end 
of the question, for the purpose of inserting the words :-" The consideration of the 
question be postponed until the Committee have come to some determination concerning 
what, if any, pecuniary compensation should be recommended to be awarded to Captains 
Collinson and Kellett," instead thereof:-Question," That the words' the sum of' stand 
part of the Question," put and agreed to. 

Another amendment proposed (Sir T. Herbert), To leave out the words" 5,000l. be 
awarded to Captain M'Clure, and 5,0001. to his officers and crew," for the purpose of 
inserting the words "20,0001. be awarded to Captain M 'Clure, his officers and crew," 
instead thereof.-Question, "That the words proposed to be left out stand part of the 
question," put, and agreed to.-Main question put and agreed to. 

Motion made, and question proposed (Sir R. Peel), " That it is the opinion of Your Com­
mittee that, limiting the reward to Captain M'Clure, his officers and crew, no further 
pecuniary grant be recommended to the favourable consideration of Parliament, with refer­
ence to the evidence which has been submitted to Your Committee in the course of its 
present investigation."--Amendment proposed (Mr. Gordon), To leave out from t~e word 
"That" to the end of the question, for the purpose of inserting the words, "ThIS Com­
mittee, considering that Captain Collinson did actually discover, by independent means, a 
north-west passage subsequently to its discovery by Captain ]WClure, and that his other 
services in the Arctic Seas are of exceeding brilliancy and merit, recommend that a sum 
of 5,0001. should be awarded to Captain Collinson, his officers and crew," instead thereof. 
-Question, put, " That the words proposed to be left out stand part of the question." 
The Committee divided: 

Ayes, 6. 
Captain Scobell. 
Sir T. Herbert. 
Mr. Butt. 
Lord Stanley. 
Sir R. Peel. 
Mr. Mackinnon. 

Main question put and agreed to. 

Noes, 5. 
Sir T. Acland. 
Mr. Jackson. 
Mr. Stevenson. 
Mr. Seymer. 
Mr. Gordon. 

Consideration of the proposed Report then proceeded with. 

Motion made (Mr. Butt), "That the following paragraphs be added to the Report":-

" Your Committee feel great satisfaction in being abl~ to recommend that these special 
services should be recompensed by an adequate pecumary reward. For many years a 
reward of 20,0001. was offered for the first person who should complete the North-west 
Passage, by actually sailing with his ship from one ocean to another. In the year 1818 
that reward was modified by proposing that a sum of 

5,0001. should be paid for passing 

5,0001. " " 
5,0001. " " 

1100 

1200 

1300 

"The arrangements under which these rewards were offered we~e sanc~ioned by Acts of 
Parliament. It appears that the sum of 5,000 1. has been already paid to SIr Edward Parry 
~ b4 ~ 
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for having penetrated one of the degrees of longitude for which the partial reward was 
offered. 

"In 1828 these Acts were repealed. Your Committ~e do !lot refer to them as ~ete~mining 
the question which has be~n su?mit.ted to their con~lderatlOn, but as supply~ng. m some 
respects, a guide to them m estImatmg the sums \\ hICh ought. to be ap?roprIated .as the 
recompense for services of the same nature with those for whICh the Acts of Parliament 
offered the reward. 

"Your Committee, under all the circumstances. recommend that a sum of 1 0,0001. should 
be appropriated to Captain M'Clure and the officers and crew of the' Investigator.' . 

" Of this sum they recommend that, as a ~erso~al tribute to his energy> bravery~ an.d skill, 
a sum of 5,000 I. should be appropriated to Captam 1\1 'Clure, and the resIdue be dIstrIbuted, 
under the directions of the Admiralty, between the officers and the crew. 

" Upon the most careful consideration, Your Committee have c?me to the conclusion, that 
there would be great difficulty in their making any recommendatlOn that would extend the 
principle of pecuniary reward further than it has been sanctioned by the spi~t of the Acts 
of Parliament to which they have referred. They therefore forbear from makmg any recom­
mendation of this nature, except in the case of those whose good fortune it was first to 
complete and make known the enterprise which, from an early period, had been made the 
object of a distinct and specific reward. 

" In this decision they have not been influenced by any want of appreciation of the services 
of the two brave and distinguished officers whose services they were specially desired to 
investigate at a period subsequent to the original appointment of the Committee, or of the 
many other intrepid and distinguished men who have at different periods so nobly braved 
the perils and privations of a voyage in the Polar Regions. In dealing with a matter so 
difficult of adjustment, Your Committee have felt that their prudent course was to confine 
such a recommendation to a case in which they have precedent and authority to guide, and 
in which the performance of a specific service makes in itself a distinction, which upon 
any ground of the general claim of enterprise and bravery it would be difficult, if not 
impossible, to draw." 

Question "That these paragraphs be added to the proposed report," put, and agreed to. 

[Adjourned to Monday next, at One o'clock. 

Luna, 16° die Julii, 1855. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Mr. Gordon. 
Captain Scobell. 

Mr. MACKINNON, in the 

::-;ir Thomas Acland. 
Sir Thomas Hprbert. 

Chair. 
Mr. Jackson. 
Mr. Stevenson. 
~Ir. Butt. 

The proposed Report (Mr • .Mackinnon) further proceeded with. 

The following .paragraph rea~, amended, and agreed to: "An order from the House 
~f Commons T havlllg reached th.ls. CO~lmiltee to investigate the claims of Captains Col­
hnson. an~ Kellett, two very dlstlllgmshed officers, Your Committee, in compliance with 
the .dlrectlOns of The !louse, have taken evidence from which it appears that Captain 
Colhn~?n was the. semor officer of the expedition titted out to search for and suc­
cour ~Ir J. ~ranklin, and afterward~ to proceed to Melville Island; that in July 1850 
Cap!alll Collmson parted c?mpany With Captain M 'Clure in a gale of wind after passing the 
S:ralts ~f ~ag~llan, and .dld not meet him again; that Captain Collinson entered Prince of 
\\ ales :Str~lt WIthout bemg aware of its previous discovery by Captain M'Clure, until he 
r~·ached Prmcess .Royal Islands, where he foulld a record left for that officer; that he forced 
hIS way along. PrInce of Wales Strai.ts to the entrance of Parry's Sound, that he was com­
pelled ?y t~e Ice to retu~, and that 10 the subsequent spring exploring parties were sent out 
f~o.m his shIp, on.e of "hlCh reached Melville Island about 20 days after it had been first 
VISIted by Capt am M'Clure." 

~otion made (~r. Gordon ), "Th~t the following paragraphs be added to the proposed Report." 
Your CommIttee, cannot refram from expressing their high sense of the skill judgment 

and. pe~~eve~nce evm~d by Captain Collinson in pU8hing his ship through Dolphin and 
Umon hutralts to a p~mt many degrees further eastward than has ever been attained by 
any ot er vesse! p~5smg from the west along the northern shores of America, and in 
successfully extflcatmg her from the embarrassments of so perilous a position. 

" They 11.150 feel it incu!llbent upon t?em. to. notice the determination of this ganant officer 
to return to the eastward m search of h18 DUsslOg coru;ort previously to having communicated 

with 
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with Her Majesty's shiP: Plover,' a!ld from her obtaining intelligence of Captain M'Clure's 
safety; nor can they omit ~ mentIOn the bold attempt made by him in the year 1850 to 
penetrate to the. northward mto ~he he!l'rt of the Polar Sea, where he was stopped in lati­
tude 73~o by an Impenetrable barner of ICe," 

Questi~n "That these paragraphs be added to the proposed report," put, and agreed to. 

The following paragraph read, amended and agreed to: "In reference to the evidence 
regarding Captain Kellett, which was given with much modesty by that distinO'uished 
~fficer, who had. alrea~y served w.ith great credit in the Arctic Seas for so many~ years, 
It appears that lIDmedlatelyon hIS return to England, after havinO' seen both Captain 
Collinson and Captain ~'~lure e~ter the ice at Behring's Straits, Captain Kellett volunteered 
to accompany the expeditIOn of Sir E. Belcher. He proceeded to Melville Island, and whilst 
wintering there, at Dealy Island, having discovered a record left by Captain M 'Clure in the 
preceding ye~r, he w~s ~nabled to ~e~ieve that officer from his p~rilous position in Mercy 
Bay, by sendmg to hiS aId an expeditIon under the command of Lieutenant Pim. It is im­
possible to exaggerate the importance of this succour. In the words of Captain :\l'Clure, 
tbe officers and men of the 'Resolute' were 'at once raised from despondency to the height 
of exultation and delight.' Without this timely assistance it may be doubted whether 
Capta!n M:Clure could have reached Beechey: Island; if this co.uld have been performed by 
Captam MClure and a few hardy men of hiS crew, the remamder would have had little 
chance of their lives, and might have shared the fate of Captain Franklin, in place of beinO' 
now in their native land. In concluding those remarks on a North-west PassaO'e, You~ 
Committee cannot but express their satisfaction that the long-sought-for proble~ has at 
length been solved by this country, and that another ray has been added to the maritime 
glory of the British Empire." 

Motion made (Mr. Butt), "That the following paragraphs be added to the Report," 

"While Your Committee do not feel justified in recommending that the principle of 
of a pecuniary compensation should be carried beyond the case of the commander, 
officers, and crew who actually accomplished the result, for which a former Act of 
Parliament had sanctioned that principle, at the same time they feel that they do not 
transgress their proper duty in suggesting that the country at large would hail with satis­
faction any distinctions which might be confcrred, not only upon tbe officers whose names 
have been immediately referred to Your Committee, but upon others whose names are no less 
honourably connected with the perils and the exertions that have attended the exploration of 
the Arctic Seas. For the last 30 years, and also since the loss of the gallant and lamented 
Sir John Franklin, some of the most distinguished officers of the British Navy have been 
commissioned to explore the Arctic regions, and in so doing have encountered great dangers, 
hardships, and privations of every description, much more severe amI less endurable than 
~hose usually met with in ordinary maritime warfare. A clasp is awarded for every battle 
In which the military are engaO'ed; a year of service in the Polar Seas is far more dangerous, 
irksome, and trying than even~ a gallant battle. Hcr Majesty's gracious recommendation 
has invited Your Committee to consider the proper mode of rewarding the officers whose 
names have been specially referred to them. Your Committee therefore venture to sug­
gest that there are marks of honour and distinction which, by brave and high-spirited 
men, would be valued even more highly than that reward which Your Committee have 
felt compelled to confine to those within the spirit, if not the letter, of the legislative 
enactmtnt which originally offered it. 

" In connexion with this subject, Your Committee beg to direct attention to the evidence, 
which establishes that the grant of a medal to all those of every rank engaged in the several 
Arctic Expeditions would be received with great satisfaction. Your Committee feel per­
suaded that such a medal would honour deeds of heroism, which, though not accompanied by 
the excitement and the glory of the battle-field, yet rival in bravery and devotion to duty 
the highest and most successful achievements of war." 

Question, "That these paragraphs be added to the proposed report," put, and agreed to. 

Motion made (Mr. Gordon), " That the following paragraphs be added to the proposed 
Report." . 

" The names of no other officers havinO' been referred to Your Committee, Your Com­
mittee is of opinion that it miO'ht be invidious to particularise individuals whe.re all h~ve 
~ot only performed their duty,Obut earned distinction; never~heless Y our Comml~tee d~s~re, 
1D connexion with this branch of their Report, to call attentIOn to the fact, that III additIOn 
to officers and men of the Royal Navy, many individuals connected w~th the Hudson's 
B,ay Company and the merchant service have nobly exerted themselves III th~ sea:ch after 
Slr J. Franklin and have O'ained distinO'uished positions in the annals of Arctic Dlscuvery. 
Their labours have also be~n shared byo natives of France and of the United States with 
Bimilar zeal and energy. 

" Your Committee would particularly allude to the United States Expedition, equipp~d 
thro!lgh the philant~ropic exertions of Henry Grenel, Esq., and commanded by Captam 
De Haven. 

4°9. c .. Great 
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" Great praise is due to the comma~ders of the small vessels sent out by ~~dy Franklin; 
Your Committee cannot but express a hope that these brave and enterprlsmg men m~y 
be admitted to share in any honorary distinction awarded to those who have taken part 10 

these services. 

" An accidental and early death cut short the already distinguished career of the gallant 
and unfortunate Bellot, and Your Committee have learn~ wi.th deep regret that the la.st few 
days have removed, beyond the reach of any honours whICh It may please the S~verelgn to 
bestow, a veteran explorer of thes~ fr~zen regions wh?se name must ever be I~sepa~ably 
connected with the history of Arctic DIscovery. The Islands and c~~nnels of this perilous 
sea, which are now accurately laid down, and whose names are famIlI~r words to us, were 
unknown and undiscovered when Sir Edward Parry first entered the Ice, to encounter the 
hardships and dangers of a then almost untried navigation." 

Question, " That these paragraphs be there added," put and agreed to. 

[Adjourned till Wednesday, at Twelve o'clock. 

Mercurii, 18° die Julii, ] 855. 

MElIIBERS PRESENT; 

Mr. MACKINNON, in the Chair. 

Sir Robert Peel. 
Sir Thomas Acland. 
Captain Scobell. 
Admiral tV alcott. 

The consideration of the draft Report proceeded with. 

Mr. Gordon. 
Sir Thomas Herbert. 
Mr. Butt. 

A letter from Lady Franklin to the Chairman read as follows ;_ 

" Sir, 60, Pall Mall, 6 July 1855. 
" I VENTURE to trespass a few minutes on your time and that of the Committee over 

which you preside, in behalf of the claims of my late husband, Sir John Franklin, and his 
companions, as connected with the subject you have under discussion. 

"'Vhen it is remembered that these brave and unfortunate men, after years of intense 
privations and suffering, were found dead of starvation upon a spot which they could not 
have reached without having first solved that geographical problem which was the object and 
aim of all these painful efforts, and when it is also remembered that they are beyond the reach 
of their country's rewards, you will not, I think, refuse them the just acknowledgment that 
is due to their memories. 

" It would ill become me, and is far indeed from my wish, to attempt t.o question the 
claims of Captain lWClure to every honour his country may think proper to award him. 
That enterprising officer is not the less the discoverer of a North-west Passage, or, in other 
words, of one of the links which was wanted to connect the main channels of navigation 
already ascertained by previous explorers, becau~e the 'Erebus' and 'Terror' under my 
husband had previously, though unknown to Captain M'Clure, discovered another and a 
more navigable passage; that passage, in fact, which if ever ships attempt to push their way 
from one ocean to the other, will assuredly be the one adopted. And it can never be denied 
to Captain M'Clure that he is the first who has by his own skill, and by means of the timely 
assistance of the brave men who were in search of him, made his individual way from one 
ocean to the other. Such a transit, though not the object which has enO"aged the attention 
of the civilised world for centuries, is a distinction of which any man may well be proud. 

"What I presume to claim for those who can urge nothing for themselves is the first 
d~scover! of a navigable .passage for ships in that unknown space which lay between the 
dlscovenes of former naVIgators, for to such connectinO" channel has the solution of the 
geographical problem for many years past been reduced. °My husband was specially warned 
by his instructions not to seek it in the quarter where the' InvestiO"ator' lies, lest impene­
trable ice should, as was anticipated, arrest his proO"ress, and he fou~d the passage by acting 
(in conformity with his instructions) on those theoretical convictions which, as Sir John 
Richardson has shown, he deliberately formed. 

"Convinced, Sir, that it must be your desire, and that of the other honourable Members of 
the Co~m.ittee, to do justice to the dead, while you duly and generously honour the living, 
and behevmg that these two objects do not clash, but may be harmoniously combined, I have 
presumed thus to address you. 

" I trust you will pardon the Widow and the Friend this last effort in behalf of thQBe 
who have nobly perished. 

"W. A. Mackinnon, Esq., M.P." 
"I have, &c., 

(signed) "Jane Franklin." 

:Motion made (Sir R. Peel), and question, " That the letter be printed in the Appendix," 
put and agreed to. 

The 



SELECT COMMIT1EE ON ARCTIC EXPEDITION. XIX 

The following paragraphs (Mr. Butt) read, amended and added to the Report: 

"Before concluding their Report, Your Committee beO' to allude to an incident in their 
inquiries, a reference to which will at all events enable them to do justice to feelinO'B which 
have commanded their deepest sympathy and respect. b 

"While the inquiry before Your Committee was proceeding, the Chairman of Your 
Committee received a letter from Lady Franklin, which is printed in the Appendix of the 
Report." 

A further paragraph proposed by Mr. Butt, read; several amendments made-Paragraph 
read, as amended, as follows, and agreed to :-

"In the discovery of the double passage from the western waters of the Polar Ocean to 
the strait which Parry had many years ago reached from the east, Captain M'Clure has had 
the good fortune to complete the last link in the chain of discovery to which many intrepid 
and persevering enterprises have contributed. Few passages in the history of naval enter­
prise can command a deeper interest than belongs to the position of Captain M'CIure in the 
autumn of 1851. In the previous autumn he had pp.netrated to the northern extremity of 
Prince of Wales Strait, a channel discovered by himself, and had reached at its entrance the 
frozen waters of Parry's Sound. Bamed by the ice in his attempt to force his ship into 
those waters by that channel, he attempted another course. With almost instinctive s~gacity, 
he came to the conclusion that the unknown and unexplored land to the westward of the 
strait through which he had passed was an island, and that along its northern coast there 
must be another passage from the open ocean into Melville Sound. He took the bold reso­
lution to retrace his steps to the southward, and attempt to reach the same point by sailing 
round an unexplored tract of land, and braving the perils of a coast navigation, exposed to 
the pressure of the Polar Ocean. Your Committee have already recorded the verification 
of his bold conjecture, and the successful issue of this daring enterprise." 

Several verbal amendments were made. 

Question, "That the Report as amended be the Report of the Committee," put and 
agreed to. 

Question, "That the Minutes of Evidence bc reported to The House," put and 
agreed to. 

Ordered to report. 

EXPENSES OF WITNESSES. 

I 
Number of Expense. Allowance TOTAL 

NAME PROFESSION FROM Days of during Expenses 
I 

absent from Journey 
of or 

I 

whence Home, to absence allowed 

WITNESS. CONDITION. SUMMONED. onder London from to 
Orders of and 

Committee. Back. Home. Witness. 

£. •• d. £ .•. d. £. s. d • 

Captain M'Clintock . Royal Navy . - Macroom . . 6 10 - - 6 6 - 16 6 -
Dr. Rae . . . . . . . . l\ferthyr • . . 5 3 16 - 5 5 - 9 1 -

---
25 7 -

LIST 
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LIST OF WITNESSES. 

LuuO!, 2~ die Ju/ii, 1855. 

Captain Sir George Back, R. N. 

Captain Henry Kellett, R.N., C.B. 

Martis, 3" die Julii, 1855. 

Captain Sir James Clark Ross, R. N. _ 

Captain Henry Kellett, R. N., C. B. 

Captain John Washington, R.N. 

Captain Robert John Lemesurier M'Clure, R.N. _ 

Veneris, 6° die Juiii, 1855. 

Sir Roderick Impey Murchison _ 

William Thomas Domville, M. D. 

Rear-Admiral Wm. Alexander Baillie Hamilton _ 

Captain Robert John Lemesurier M'Clure, R.N. _ 

Captain Richard Collinson, R. N. 

- pp. 1,6 

- p. 4 

p. 7 

p. 8 

p. 10 

p. 13 

p. 18 

P·23 

p. 25 

p. 27 

p. 27 
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MIN UTE S 0 F E V IDE NeE. 

Mr. Mackinnon. 
Lord Stanley. 
Admiral Walcott. 

LUIlC£, 2° die Julii, 1855. 

MEMBERS PRESENT. 

Sir Thomas Herbert. 
Mr. Gordon. 
Captain Scobell. 

WILLIAM ALEXANDER MACKINNON, ESQ., 1':-< THE CHAIR. 

Captain Sir George Back, R. N., called in; and Examined. 

J. Chairman.] YOU are well conversant with the Arctic Regions :-Tolerably 
well. 

2. How many years have you passed in exploring those regions ?-Thirteen 
years. 

3. You are aware of the object for which we are assembled here; will you have 
the goodness to state to the Committee what is your general impression of Cap­
tain M'Clure's passage, the North-west Passage, and also your general opinion 
upon the subject r-As regards Captain M'Clure's discovery, I think there can 
be but one opinion of the great merit which attaches to that officer for his per­
severance in pushing his vessel through a sea encumbered with ice, amidst 
immense difficulties, and where a ship had never been before. I think also, that 
his proceeding in getting up Prince of Wales's Strait with his ship was one that 
showed immense firmness and great judgment. Perhaps still more meritorious, 
in my opinion, was his attempt, and a successful attempt, in forcing his way 
along the west side of Baring Island, where his ship was necessarily exposed to 
all the pressure of the northern ice, drifting down, as it sometimes is known to 
do, with great velocity and immense force against the shore of that and other 
lands. Judging from my experience amongst the ice, in Her Majesty's ship 
" Terror," where Captain M 'Clure commenced his Polar career-the account 
of which has been published, and, I take it for granted, is well known to the 
Committee; I say, judging from what we underwent there, the constant pres 
Sure and up-heaving of the ice, in a manner, I believe, almost unknown, the 
constant danger which attended us, and the extreme jeopardy ill which the 
ship was frequently placed, raises my admiration of the conduct of Captain 
M'Clure in exposing himself and his ship to similar dangers-dangers, how­
ever, which must be encountered, as he well knew, before success could be 
achieved. With this vivid impression on my mind, I cannot sufficiently admire 
the conduct of Captain M'Clure and his officers, who, with every faith in Pro­
vidence, could quietly thrust their ship into such danger. Doubtless, it is owing 
to that firmness, skill, and intrepidity that the success of the expedition to the Bay 
of Mercy was accomplished. There can be no doubt that Captain M'Clure's ship 
was the first that ever traversed the Polar Sea from Behring's Strait to Baring 
Island; and, in having accomplished that, it is equally certain that the credit 
01' the discovery of a North-west passage by a great channel is due solely and 

0.61 . A entirely 

Captain 
Sir G. Bac~', R. N. 

2 July 1855. 
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entirely to Captain M'Clure. I really do not know that I can add anything to 
what I have related, beyond a re-assertion of the circumstances, and my great 
admiration of the conduct of all employed. ~ 

4. I think you stated just now that no vessel had ever gone to the north or 
north-westernmost part of Baring Island before Captain M'Clure's ~-I did .. 

5. The difficulty of so doing was the immense pressure of the Ice commg 
down from the north-west ?-Precisely so. " 

6. Of course, if he succeeded in weathering the north-west pomt of Banng 
Island and went round, in doing that he did what no other explorer of the 
Arctic Regions had ever done before ?-What no person had ever done befo:e. 

i. Is there any Fossibility of passing by the south-east co~ner of Banng 
Island in the Prince of Wales's Channel ?-It appears that Captam M'Clure was 
stopped there by one continuous mass of ice; t?erebJ: he was prevented from 
accomplishing a passage, which but for that ImpedIment would have been 
completed during the same year. 

8. As far as I can understand, he attempted that passage first ?-He did. 
9. Then, finding that he could not succeed, he dropped down to the southern 

extremity, went to the westward, and steered to the northward, and then turned 
to the east?-That is precisely what I think I have said. 

10. Would there have been any possibility for him, if the weather had 
cleaff~d, to have gone on with his vessel ?-That would have depended entirely 
upon the state of the ice. Had Captain M'Clure commanded a steam-vessel or 
an auxiliary steam-vessel, perhaps it is not hazarding too much in saying that 
he would have got entirely through in the same season, by which means he 
would have brought his ship to England. 

11. Admiral Walcot!.] Do you think that the ice would not have prevented 
his forcing his way through with a steam-vessel r-I do. Such is the uncer­
tainty of the drift or motion of the ice in the Polar Regions, that it frequently 
happens, and I believe it did with Captain M'Clure, that a channel or a wide 
space of water is visible, but, from not having any steam-power, the ship 
cannot possibly get to it. The impediment between the open water and the 
ship may probably only be 600 yards, perhaps less. 

12. Sir T. Herbert.] And the wind may be directly against you ?-Exactly so. 
. 13· Admiral WaLcott.] Did Captain M'Clure see any such broken water?­
I believe I am correct in saying, that at one time he did see open water to 
windward of him, towards Melville Island. 

14· At what distance from Meh'ille Island ?-l cannot answer that question 
eX:letly; but he told me, to the best of my recollection, it was complete 
sailing water; that is to say, the pieces of ice were so small as not to form any 
impediment to the ship's progress. 

15· Captain Scobet!.] I suppose you have read the full details of the " Inves­
tigator's" passage from Behring's Straits to where the" Investigator" was left? 
-1 have. 

16. Do you remember about what distance that is in a straight line? - No, I 
cannot say exactly the distance. Perhaps between 600 and 700 miles; but 
I ha\'e not measured it. 

1 i· Remembering the great object which was in view, namely, the North­
wes~ Passage, how far do you think, in the fair acceptation of the term, Captain 
:\l'Uure has made that passage, taking into consideration how he got home, 
that he trayelled over the ice a certain distance, and then proceeded by other 
vessej~ to England ?-I should think, if I underRtand the question rightly, that 
the dIstance between Captain M'Clure's furthest (if I may so call it), the Bay 
of ~IE'~cy, and wh~re C~ptain Si: Edw.ard Parry was in UH 9, would be probably 
f~om ! 0 to 90 mIles In a straIght hne, east and west; that is to say, in the 
dIrectIOn of the Str:lit; I mean leading to open water. 

18. Has h~ not" in point of fact, cleared up whether there is or is not a North­
west Passage ;-l ndoubtedly, he has cleared up that there is one . 
. 19: Has he not, in person and with his crew, made that passaO'e ?-Unques-

tlOnaoly. 0 

20. Though they did not do it in the" Investigator" all the way from impedi­
ments ?-:-As far as th~ Bay of Mercy. 

21. DId you e.ycr wmter in that region of which we are speaking near Baring 
Island and Melnlle lsl~nd ?-I have not wintered there; my wintering was to 
the southward of that, In Frozen Strait, in the" Terror." 

22. In 
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I ~:1. In what l~titude and longitude. d~d you winter ?-I have not got the Captain 
'latItude and longItude down here; but It IS near to Frozen Strait, to the south- Sir G. Back, R.lI. 

ward; about 65° IS' and S3" 30'. 
:23. Still the region which you were in, and in which you persevered with 2 July 1855· 

your endeavours, was full of the same and similar impediments which a more 
northern latitude would offer ?-I should say almost greater, because I was 
coming from east to west, consequently against the current, and to the south of 
that entirely; not in connexion with that, because there is only a passao-e 
through Hecla and Fury Straits to my position, which was considerably to the 
eastward. 

24. So that your experience, you think, enables you to give a just judgment 
on the case ?-I should say so. 

25. Sir Thomas Herbert.] You were never at Melville Island ?-No. 
26. You do not know how much of the distance from Melville Island across 

to Cape Mercy has been traversed by a ship, alld the distance of the part that 
was left unconnected by sailing vessel between those points :-I belie\'e the dis­
tance is from near Winter Harbour, where Captain Kellett wintered, or 
close to it. 

2i. In that channel, what distance do vessels from Melville Island reach to 
what they call Banks's Island; how near the Cape ?-Not far; but the distance 
is about 150 or 160 miles. 

28. Captain M'Clure did not perform that :-Not in the ship. 
:19. Captain Scohell.] None of the other navigators from Sir Edward Parry 

on to the present time, except Captain M'Clure, effected anything amounting 
to ascertaining the North·west Passage ?-Not that I am aware of; not from the 
westward, certainly. 

30. Are you familiar enough with all the events of those various voyages to 
know who, on the whole, penetrated furthest to ascertain that problem next to 
Captain M'Clure ?-If the Committee wishes me to answer the question, I can 
have no hesitation in doing so. In a ship, Captain Collinson \Vas unques­
tionably the second after Captain M'Clure. 

31. Do you remember how much he came short in distance of performing 
what Captain M'Clure did ?-I am not well versed in that; I believe that his 
ship, in Prince of Wales's Strait, "as a little to the north of Captain M'Clure's 
position there. 

32. Further on ?-Yes, a little higher up. He tried to get round to the west­
ward, and failed; consequently, that would be his northern point in Prince of 
Wales's Strait. 

33. Admiral TValcott.] He reached more to the northward than Captain 
MCClure did ?-Only in Prince of Wales's Strait; not in the Bay of }Iercy. 
The Bay of Mercy is considerably to the northward of the other. (The fVitness 
pointed out upon the map the relative positions 'If the places named.) 

34. Captain ScobeLl.J Where was Captain Kellett's furthest ?-(The lritness 
pointed out the same.) It is a point near 'Winter Harbour. 

35. Chairman.] You have not been there, have you :-0;'0. 
:36. Captain Collinson, finding that he could Bot get through the Straits, n- hat 

did he do ?-Captain Collinson returned to the southward, and wintered in a 
bay which you see to the south there (poil/ting out the same), in latitude 71 035' 
and longitude 1170 39' W. Then in the following season he went round here, 
and wintered in Cambridge Bay; his party afterwards travelled on the ice, up 
to here (showing the same), in latitude 70° 26' and longitude 100° 45' W. 

37. And came back ?-They then returned to the ship. 
38. Where was Captain Collinson at the time that Captain M'Clure made the 

passage ?-I am not quite clear where he was. 
39. Sir T. Herbert.] He must have been at Hong Kong ?-Yes, because he 

wintered at Hong Kong. 
40. Captain Scobell.] Where was Captain Collinson's furthest ?-( 17le Witness 

pointed out the same). 
41. What are the latitude and longitude of his furthest :-About l05°.20' 

longitude, and something like 69° S' latitude; viz., Cambridge Bay. 
42. Sir T. Herbert.] Captain Collinson got as far as 105° West; that is to 

say, coming from the westward and going to the eastward. How far west did 
Captain M'Clure get; that is, coming from the westward and going to the east­
ward?-llSO or 117.50°. 

0.6J. A 2 43. Chairman.] 
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43. Chairman.] Then, as far as your view of the subject goes, there is n~ question that Captain M'Clure was the only person who got so far to the west . 
-Not the least in the world. 

Captain Henry Kellett, R. N., C. B., called in; and Examined. 

C ta
o 44. Chairman.] WILL you have the kindness to state how many years you ap m d . . hAt' S H. Kellett, n.N.,e.B. have been intimate with the Arctic Seas ?-I wintere tWICe m t e rc IC eas, and I have made three summer voyages to Behring's Straits in connexion with 

this expedition. 
45. When did your first acquaintance with the Arctic Seas commence ?-In 

1848 I went there. 
46. As you are well aware of the object~ of this Comm~ttee, will rou have the kindness to state your opinion on the subject, as far as It goes,! WIt~ reference to Captain M'Clure's discovery of the passage to ~he north-west r-'Ylth respect to the discovery of the North-west Passage, I wIll say that there IS no doubt that Captain lWClure has the priority of claim to that discovery. . 47. In your impression, if he had not gone to the westward of Barmg Island, he could by no means have done it 1-He could; he would have done it 

eouallv . 
• 48 .. In what manner ?-By going from Prince of Wales's Strait to Sir Edward 

Parry's position. 
49. But he could not get through r-No, he could never get through with his ship; it has never been made by ships at all. 
50. Nor, as stated by the former Witness, has the passage to the westward of BarinlZ Island ever before been achieved ?-Never before: in fact, the actual North-west Passage, as far as men going from the westwa~d, as it was in this case, across and actually going over the footsteps of Sir Edward Parry, was achieved first by Captain M'Clure, and in about 20 days afterwards by Captain Collinson's party. Captain M'Clure wintered in Mercy Bay, and Captain Col­linson the same year wintered just a little to the southward, in the entrance of Prince of Wales's Strait. (The Witness pointed out the different positions on the Map.) Captain M'Clure wintered here, and Captain Collinson in the same year there. Captain M'Clure's party went from here to there, and Captain Collinson's party went from here to there (pointing out the same), both in the same year, only Captain Collinson's party were 20 days after the other. 51. Admiralll'atcott.] That, of course, was in communication with each other?-No further communication than that Captain Collinson found Captain M'Clure's records. 
52. Chairman.] But Captain M'Clure was the first ~-Captain M'Clure was the first by 20 days. 
53. Then they both went back to their ships; Captain Collinson's party returned?-Yes, and so did Captain M'Clure's; they went back to his ship also. 
54. That was the first year, as I understand ?-That was Captain M'Clure's second year in the Arctic Regions . 
.15. That was in the year 1852 ?-Yes, the year that I went out there' and I ~ound uCaptain .M'Clur~'s record, with the date of his having done 'so in Wmter ~.arbour, where Sir Edward Parry wintered before. 
;56. ~Ir T. Herbert.] The first intimation which you had of Captain M'Clure bemg m Mercy Bay was, from a party of his cominO" over to Melville Island ?-He himself came; it was from his having gone o~er and deposited a record of what he had done, which I found in October 1852. 
5 i· What was the next intimation which you had of him ?-The next inti­~ation which. I had of him was f~om having sent an officer of my own to him, Lleut~nant Plm, who reached him on the 6th of April 1853; I could not send m .October. I should have been only adding more men to his difficulties by sendmg ~ver a party at that time, besides not supposing that he was there. 58. Gaptam. Scohelt.] <If what date was Captain M'Clure's record which you found a~_ Melvtll.e Island ~ -It was dated some time in April 1852. 59. 1 he preVIOUS April before you found it in October?-Yes. 60. You found it in April ?-I did in October. 
61. What distance did ron afterwards ascertain that Captain M'Clure was from you; what was the distance between where the " Investigator" wintered 

and 
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llnd you, in a straight line ?-He was about 165 miles, as the crow flies: I think, Captain 
about 168 or 170 miles by sledge route. H. Kelletr. R.N.,C.B. 

62. If there had been no ice, would it have been entirelv sea between you 
and him ?-I think so, as far as one could judge.· '1 July 1855· 

63. No reports came to you that there were indications of land ?-No. 
64. Then, geographically speaking, has he or has he not, in person with his 

-crew, performed the North-west Passage, not in the" Investigator," but himself? 
- I consider that he has. 

65. And he has solved the problem, in fact ?-He has solved that problem. 
66. Mr. Gordon.] Sir George Back has stated that, in his opinion, if Captain 

M'Clure had been furnished with any steam-power, he ,,"ould have been able to 
make the passage not only in person, but with his vessel; do you concur in that 
opinion ?-No; I do not think it practicable for any vessel ever to go by the 
west through that channel with any power. I do not think it possible. 

67. Admiral Walcott.] Then your opinion is, that if Captain Collinson, as 
well as Captain M'Clure, had had a screw-vessel with them, it would have been 
impracticable for them to have forced through the ice, which is generally, and 
indeerl, if I understand you rightly, at all times so thick, that they c0uld not 
have made a passage in that direction ?-I do not think they ever could. They 
may have passed one another a mile or two in Prince of ",Vales's Srrait; but J 
do not think it ever practicable for a vessel to get from the southward up 
through that Strait mto Barrow Strait. from what I haye seen. 

6S. Then it is your impression that, from the position in which Captain Col­
linson was, he could never have achieved the North-west Passage ?-Never, with 
his ship. 

69. Captain Scobell.] You pointed out, a little while ago, where Captain 
Collinson wintered, his furthest, and where the" Inyestigator" was left; what 
is the distance, in a straight line, from the one to the other r-They could not 
go straight; everyone of those distances is given in the Blue Book. I think 
there is a small chart in the Blue Book; 1 could get it out with a pair of com­
passes. 

70. Will you give the latitude and longitude where the "Investigator" was 
left, and the furthest which Captain Collinson reached ?-It is about 230 miles, 
I think. 

7 J. Admiral ·Walcott.] In your opinion, at the time Captain Collinson reached 
the longitude which he did, and in the position in which he was, would it have 
been practicable, as far as it is possible to judge, from the state of the ice whieh 
you might have seen from Melville Island, to have I?;or.e by the ice from where 
'Captain Collinson had his ship to :YIelville Island, or for Captain M'Clure to 
have done it ?-Perfectly easy. Captain Collinson went from that position. 

72. To Melville Island ?-Yes; he was only 20 days after Captain :YI'Clure. 
Captain M'Clure was one year longer on the ice than Captain Collinson; he 
went one year before. The same year that Captain M'Clure went round here 
(showing the same), Captain Collinson got into the ice and he wintered here. 

73. I understand that the impression which you give to the Committee is 
precisely this, that Captain M'Clure has the merit of having achieved the 
North-west Passage in the first instance ?-That is exactly it. 

74. And Captain Collinson in the second instance ?-Yes. 
75. Captain Scobell.] Did Captain Collinson go from where his vessel 

wintered to Melville Island?-Yes; that is to say his party did; some of his 
officers and crew. 

76. Supposing Captain M 'Clure had not made the passage, then Captain 
Collinson may be supposed to have done it in the same sense '{-Yes; 20 days 
later. 

77 Having performed a large portion of it over the ice ?-Yes. 
78. Chairman.] Was that the year afted-The same year. 
79. Captain Scobell.] How long after ?-About 20 days, I think it was, as near 

as possible; their sledges crossed one another. 
80. Sir T. Herbert.] Captain Collinson had the advantage of the information 

which Captain M'Clure left at the different stations as he went along?-Yes, 
he found his records. Captain M'Clure's was a perfectly unknown land to 
him. 

8}, Admiral T¥alcott.] If I understand you rightly, Captain Collinson had 
the advantage of the records which Captain M'Clure left during his progress, or 

0.61. A 3 a part 
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Captain a part of his progress ?-Yes; the records which he left are in this .b~k. ~ do 
H.Kellett, R.N.,C.B. not think there was anything left by Captain M'Clure as to what hi~ mten~ons 

were-I do not suppose he knew very well what th~y were, depe~ding entll"ely 
on his finding water; but Captain Collinson certamly found hIS records of 
what he had done. 

82. And he knew that Captain M'Clure was before him ?-Yes, he knew that 
Captain M'Clure had been before him wherever he went. 

83. Captain Scobell.] Do you consider it an act of great pre.severance th~t 
when Captain M'Clure found that he could not ge~ thr~ugh PrInce of Wales s 
Straits, he went right round the island on the outsl~e ~th the pressure of the 
whole Arctic Sea ice upon him :-1 do certainly thl~k It a most unparalleled 
piece of perseverance, and I have seen a good deal of It. 

84. That part of what he did, taken as a part of t~e whole, mu~t have been 
the most dangerous of the whole ?-Yes; . for on.e perIOd he was SIX ~eeks on 
the face of a perpendicular coast, where, If the Ice had come upon hIm, there 
could not have been a man saved. 1 do not think it is quite fair to suppose 
that Captain M'Clure, if he had found a passage there, would have persevered 
and gone through, because that was not the object of his voyage; the North­
west Passage was not the object of his voyage. It was stated that he would 
have gone through the same year; I do not think that he would have done so, 
or could have done so, eyen if it had been open; it might have been in his 
power. 

S.,). Sir T. Herbert.] Did you see Captain M'Clure's orders ?-I did; a copy 
of them was sent; they were Captain Collinson's orders. 

86. He had a copy of them; when he communicated with you, did he show 
you a copy of his orders ?-I had a copy of his orders; I knew them very 
well. 

87. Will you state to the Committee what his orders were; was he ordered 
to go to Melville Island ?-He was, I think; I am almost sure he was, but 
1 cannot exactly say whether the words" :\lelville Island" were included. The 
orders are there. 

88. Captain Scobell.] Your officers and crew were healthy throughout the 
winters which you passed there, were not they?--Perfectly healthy. Captain 
M'Clure's ship was abandoned in consequence of the state of his crew, and the 
length of time, and the impracticability of getting her out. 

t:)9. Admiral IVa/cott.] At the time when you were ordered to desert your 
ship, had you the impression that, had you not deserted her, you had sufficient 
provisions, and that your crew were sufficiently healthy to have run the chance 
of another winter of getting clear ?-They were perfectly healthy, and there 
were quite sufficient provisions for the number of men that would have been 
necessary for me to have brought the vessels out. 

Captain Sir George Back, R.N., again called in; and further Examined. 

Captain . gO. Sir T. Herbert.]. YOU had. a conversation at the Admiralty with the 
Sir G. Back, R.};. FIrst Lord of the AdIDll"alty, I beheve, or with the parties there at the time 

whe~ the expedition was going. out to look for Captain M'Clure and Captafu 
Colhnson: on account of the anXIety about them; what was the nature of that 
conversatIOn ?-I may mention that the Duke of Northumberland sent for me 
to the .A.dmiralty, ~nd in the presence of the late Admiral Hyde Parker asked 
my ?pmlOlI. respectmg any suc~our that might be rendered to Captain M'Clure, 
or, In fact, any plan that I Imght entertain of sending out another expedition. 
I strongly recommen~ed that s~ccour vf some kind or other, by ship, should 
be s~nt towards nlelVIlie Island, 111 th.e .hope of meeting with Captain M'Clure. 
I beheve that was all. From that orlg111ated other things, which terminated as 
you know. 

9 1 • Was this after Sir Edward Belcher had sailed 2-No' Sir Edward 
Belcher ha~ just been appointed, but he had not sailed. ' 

.92 • ChatrmuJI.] I~ there anything else which you have to state to the Com­
mltte~ u~o.n the subject of Captain M'Clure's expedition :-1 have nothing to 
state IndIVidually, further than I have stated. 

93· Ca:ptain Scobelt.]. About what year was that conversation ?-It must have 
been preVIOUS to the g0111g out of Sir Edward Belcher's expedition· it would be 
about June 1852, I should think; :Mayor June. ' 

94. Admiral 
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94· Admiral TFalcott.] In the summer of 1852?-Yes; all that J wish to 
state is, that the Duke of Northumberland felt a very warm interest in the 
fate of Captain M'Clure. 

95. Captain Scobell.] And of Captain Collinson, of course ?-Naturally· they 
being the Expedition, in fact. ' 

Martis, 3° die Julii, 1855. 

MEMBERS PRESENT. 
1\1r. Mackinnon. 
Admiral Walcott. 
Sir Thomas Herbert. 
Lord Stanley. 
Mr. Edward Ellice. 
Mr. Gordon. 

Captain Scobell. 
Mr. Stephen;::on. 
Mr. I~aac Butt. 
Mr. Talbot. 
Sir Robert Peel. 

WILLIAM ALEXANDER MACKINNON, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Captain Sir James Clark Ross, R. N., called in; and Examined. 

96. Chairman.J YOU have been long conversant with the Arctic Seas?-Yes; Captaiu 
1 have been many voyages to that region. Sir J. C. Ross. R.N. 

97. You are well aware what we are assembled here for; will you state 
generally your opinion as to what was accomplished by Captain M'Clure, with 3 July 1855. 
reference to the discovery of the North-west Passage ?-There can be hut one 
opinion of Captain l\I'Clure having accomplished the remaining portion of the 
passage, that portion which was left undone by Sir Edward Parry. The 
discovery of the North-west Passage may properly be mid to have been 
made by Sir Edward Parry, Sir John Franklin, and Sir .Tohn Richardson; but 
Captain lWClure has completed in a ship that which Sir Edward Parry had left 
unaccomplished. 

98. Admiral Walcott.] The question which the Committee desire to ask you 
is not as to the comparative merits of Captain M 'Clure and Sir Edward Parry, 
and others (whose indomitable perseverance and meritorious exertions all must 
acknowledge) ; but the question is, whether to Captain M'Clure does not belong 
the merit of having solved the problem of the North-west Passage in so far as 
this: that he went in at one end, and came out at the other ?-There cannot be 
the least doubt about it ; but as it is upon record that Sir Edward Parry had 
found a portion of the North-west Passage, and receh"ed a reward for it, I 
meant to say that it was the remaining part of the North-west Passage that 
Captain M'Ciure has accomplished in the "Investigator." 

99. Captain Scovell.] If Captain Parry received a reward for performing 
part of the North-west Passage, does not that circumstance lessen the claim of 
any person who performed the whole of the North-west Passage ?-I should 
think so. In the first place, the reward was offered to any person who should 
sail through the North-west Passage; that was modified after the first voyage 
in 1818, and it was apportioned out in four parts: 5,000 l. for passing 110°, 
10,000 t. for passing 130°, 15,000 l. for passing 150° west longitude, and 
20,0001. for going through; the first portion of which was received by 
Sir Ed ward Parry; and if the Board of Longitude had not been dissolved, 
Captain M'Clure and his crew would have been entitled to the other 15,000 I. 

100. Mr. Ellice.] Captain M'Clure is the only one who has gone through ?­
He is the only one who has gone entirely through, except his officers and crew. 

101. Chairman.] He is the only one who has taken a belt round America? 
-Yes. 

102. Mr. Ellice.j He may be said to be the first and hitherto the only real 
discoverer of the through passage from the Atlantic to the Pacific ?-Certainly, 
he has been the first to go entirely through. Captain Collinson may be said 
also to have discovered a passage, but that was a year later, and he did not go 
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Captain through it; but he discovered a communication by wat~r, whic~l wa~ not k~own 
Sir J. C. Ross, R. N. before. If Captain M'Clure and all his officers had penshed, Captam C?llinson 

would have proved that there was a North-,~est Passage by what he did; but 
3 July 1855. Captain M'Clure was a twelvemonth before hIm. 

] 03. Captain Scobell.J Captain M'Clure got to the Ba~ o~ Mer.c}' by per­
severing, after he was defeated in Prince of Wales StraIt, m. gomg .ro.und 
Baring Island, notwithstanding the pressure and the dangers of the ArctIc Ice? 
-Yes. 

104. Captain Collinson did not attempt to go round?-Yes, but did not 
get so far; he went up Princess Royal Channel, and thus woul~ ~ave eq~ally 
proved the North-west Passage, if Captain M'Clure had. ~ot antICIpated 1~lm. 

10.5. Which advanced furthest up Prince of Wales StraIt~-Captam Colhnson, 
in the " Enterprize." 

106. Chairman.] Did Captain Collinson, or did he not, go further than Cap­
tain M'Clure ?---In his ship he did not go so far as Captain M'Clure round 
Baring Island; and he equally went across to Melville Island over the ice. 

107. Was not the direction which the Admiralty gave to Captain M'Clure 
to go through the Pacific and to reach Melville Island, in fact., a direction to 
him to attempt the North-west Passage ?-No doubt of it. I do not know that 
the Admiralty intended by those orders that he should seek for the North-west 
Passage. I suppose he was directed to go there in search of Sir John Franklin, 
in the expectation that Sir John Franklin might have gone there from the east­
ward, and that Captain lWClure might reach him from the westward. I do not 
suppose that the Admiralty sent out Captain Collinson or Captain M'Clure 
for the purpose of discovering the North-west Passage. 

108. Mr. Gordon.] But though not for the purpose, the orders of the 
Admiralty, if carried out, would have had the effect of ordering him to accom­
plish that ?-No doubt. 

109. Mr. Ellice.] The Act of Parliament promises the reward to any person 
" first finding out and sailing through the North-west Passage" ?-Yes; that 
was afterwards modIfied by the Act of 1819, apportioning t.he reward. 

110. Chairman.] In your impression, " sailing through," or " going through," 
mean the same thing ?-I suppose so. 

111_ Admiral Walcott.] Captain Collinson, by a party, communicated with. 
Melville Island :-1 think by a sledge party. 

112. Was that before or after Captain lWClure communicated with Melville 
Island ?-I think it must have been after. 

] 13· Chairman.] Your impression is, that Captain M'Clure was the first man 
who made a sort of belt round the island ?-There is no doubt of it. 

11~. Mr. Ellice.] There is no doubt of the.facts, which are matter of public 
notoriety, and beyond controversy, that Captam M'Clure is the first and only 
person who has passed from sea to sea ?-There is no doubt that Captain 
~'Clure is the first comma~der of a ship that has passed from sea to sea, but 
LIeutenant Cresswell and hIS party were the first individuals, and Captain 
M'Clure ,:as therefore not the first person nor the only person, as he was 
accompamed by the ex-officers and crew of the ship he commanded. 

Captain Henry Kellett, R.N., C.B., called in; and further Examined. 

Captain 115· Admir~l Walcott.] WILL you be so good as to acquaint the Committee-
H.Kellett,R.N.,c.B. whether ~aptam M.'Clur~ communicated directly with you at l\lelville Island~ 

a~ter ha,:ng left hIS ShIp off Banks's Island ~-Yes; Captain M'Clure came 
hImself direct to me . 

. } 16. Sir T. Herbert.] When you abandoned your vessel, what remuneration 
~Ia you get on account of your stores and your clothing ?-I received remunera­
tIon for my losses, but not exactly agreeably with my demands. In most cases 
the demands ?f the officers were not up to the service allowance. 

11 i· Captam ~cobell.] After Captain M'Clure reached you at Melville Island 
by what ~eans dId he reach England ~-He walked to Beechey Island and the~ 
he went m the." North Star" as far as Lievely in Greenland and fr~m thence 
he came home m the " Phrenix" to Cork ' 

118. Did the officers and crew accompany him :-No; they came home in 
other vessels at the same time. 

JIg. Admiral 



SELECT COM:\lITTEE ON ARCTIC EXPEDITIOX 9 

119· Admiral T¥alcott.] By " walking," do you mean walking over the ice:- Captain 
Yes', he walked upon frozen water, in fact. H v II tt-.-4e e ,R.N.,e.B" 

120. Mr. Stepkem·on.] The first communication that took place between your 
vessel and Captain lWClure's was through the medium of Lieutenant Pin; :_ 3 July 1855. 
It was. They started at a very early season, a mObt unprecedented season, with 
the tempe~ature at 500 below zero, and they went across, and met him on the 
6th of Apnl. 

121. Did you then consider that the communication that took place between 
your vessel and Captain M'Clure was mainly dependent upon the energ,' of 
Lieutenant Pim ?-Lieutenant Pim had his orders to go. I knew that Captain 
M'Clure had been a year before in that position, and I sent :dr. Pim to com­
municate with Captain M'Clure. 

122. He conducted that expedition to your satisfaction :-He conducted that 
expedition. 

123. Mr. Gm·dOlI.] If the communication \yhich took nlace betweE'1l you and 
Captain i\l'Clurc had not taken place at the time it did, L it your opinion that 
Captain M'Clure would haH' been enabled to perform the pas age at all?­
Captain l\l'Clure had actually performed the passage at that time. 

124. But would he haye been able to have actually done what no one before 
had done, namely, to haye made the ,,,hole circuit?-~()t ,yithont a~'.i,..tance, 
certainly; he might haye walked to Beechey Island, but it would haye been a 
very great trial under those circumstancE's. I think ~omE' of his healthy men 
might have walked to Deeehe), Island, but I think the greater proportion-of his 
men would not haye been able. 

125. You have no doubt that he receiyed H'l'~- important a~:-istallC(' :- I con­
ceive certainly that he received most important a~sistan('e. Had not the 
Admiralty sent ships to the westward, I do not think Captain =Ii 'Clure \\ G'..lld have 
been here now to receive the honours which I hope he m,,:' obtain. 

126. In short, the success of his expedition i_e, in some dq!;l'(,(" to be attributed 
to the succour which he received from you 1-- Yes; his succc.o~fl\l arrival in 
this country. . 

12j. Chairman.] What was the distance that he had to \\"alk, \\hich you say 
might have been achieved by strong mt'n :-About ;;00 miles to Beechey Island; 
When Lieutenant Meecham, one of my officers), found Captain Collinson's 
record, he went in 63 days 1,200 miles; but few men can do tbat. It had never 
been done before by any traveller in that time. 

1 :>8. In your opinion the assi~tance was wry important to Captain :\1 'Clure ; 
but it was possible that he might have done without it :-Exactly; it is possible 
that he might have reached Beeelle:' Island. 

1 :!9. Captain Scobell. J Were the deputs of prmisions known to Captain 
M'Clure ?-There \vas a depot, which 11(' supposed to be a larg-!· one, at Beechey 
Island, and for which he was about to start 20 of his men, but it \\a~ a 
miserable depot; there \ras not sufficient there to maintain them for a week, 
to say nothing of a winter. But those men were actually going"to that place; 
therefore, I say, the assistance they recein·d ,,-as "ery necessary to their 
salvation. 

1.'10. Mr. Stephenson.] Were not Captain JI'Clure and his crew in a very 
reduced state when Lieutenant Pim arrived there '(-They were. 

131. Considering the state they 'HTl' then in, ar~ you able to fO.rm an opinion 
as to their capability of \YHlking to BeecllE'Y Island :-1 should thmk there were 
Some of them that would have walked, in fact some did; because Lieutenant 
Cressllell went down there, and so did Mr. '''ynniat. But they were all in 
a very bad state, without any exception. 

132. Although you think it possible that tl~ey might ha,e walked to ~eechey 
Island, do you think it probable under the circumstances? - Yes; I thmk that 
Some might have got there, but no doubt \yith gr~at losses. I think t~at the,Y 
were in that state that they would not have waIted for one another m theIr 
escape. 

133. You think that the expedition which you se~t t~ Mercy Bay was of the 
utmost importance to their ultimate success ?-l tlunk It was. 

114. Admiral Walcott.] Your deliberate opinion is, that to Captain :\I'Cl~re 
-attaches the merit of having solved the problem of the North-west Passage;-
Yes, I am of that opinion. .. T 

135. Chairman.] Being the first man who made that cIrcUIt?-Yes; he proved 
0.61. B it 
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Captain it perfectly; he proved it through the. Prince of Wales's Strait, and he proved 
H. Kellett,R.N.,C.B. it by going along the west coast of Barmg Island. ., . 

136. Sir R. Peel.] But he never would have made the entIre CIrcUIt except 
3 July 1855. it had been for the assistance he received from you at Mercy Bay?-I have 

stated that he could have walkerl from that place to B~echey IsI~nd. , 

Captain 
J. Washington, 

R.N. 

137. Mr. Gordon.] But that would have been only WIth great dIfficulty;-Yes. 
138. Admiral Walcott.] In your opinion he was capable, so far as you could­

judge of reaching Beechey Island?- Yes. 
139. Mr. Gordon.] The assist~nce whi.ch y?u gave to Captain M'CI~re ~a~ 

of the most essential importance m enablmg hIm to perform the whole cIrcUIt. 
-Certainlv; no doubt of it. 

140 . Arid without that it is doubtful whether he could have done it?­
Without it it would have been doubtful, I think. 

141. Captain Scobell.] Were there any depots of provisions on Melville 
Island, independently of your being there ?-No. . 

142 . Then if you had not been there he would have found nothmg to eat 
there ?-No; nothing. 

Captain John Washington, R.N., called in; and Examined. 

143. Sir T. Herbert.] YOU are Hydrographer to the Admiralty ?-I am. 
144. Do you consider that Captain M'Clure succeeded in ascertaining the 

North-west Passage ?-Undoubtedly he succeeded in discovering the North­
west Passage. I am not a ware whether the Committee has attached any 
particular meaning to the actual making the passage, but in the common 
acceptance of the word, I consider that he was one of the discoverers that there 
was a passage. ,. . 

145. Sir R. Peel.] Who were the others ~-I thmk probably some of SIr John! 
Franklin's crew. 

146. Sir T. Herbert.] But the question being with respect to those who, 
sailed, or went or made the passage, has anyone else done it, except Captain 
M'Clure ?-Not at that particular point from Banks Land to Behring Strait. 

147. And he did it by sailing ?-Captain M'Clure did not do it by sailing. 
148. But more than anyone else ~~ We want information upon that point; 

we do not know what Sir John Franklin's crews may have done. 
149. Chairman.] You are supposing that some of Sir John Franklin's crew 

discovered the North-west Passage; but there is no evidence of that ?-I am 
judging upon general grounds. The men being left at one point, and being 
ascertainerl to be at another point, it is a fair ground of supposition that they 
passed over the distance between the two points. 

150. Where were they ?-Supposing this to be Beechey Island (pointing out 
the spot all the chart), the graves of some of Franklin's crew were found there. 
They werp known to be there about April or May, or probably later, in 1846 ; 
they had orders to go to the ,vestward, and they were found here, at the mouth 
the Great Fish riYer, in May 1850, by the Eskimo. How they reached from 
that point to this wp do not knolV, but we do know this, that there is a water 
communication to the southern part of Peel Sound. We know that there is 
water communication along the north coast of America, as far as Cape 
Nikolai, in Boothia Felix, leaving a tract; of from 90 to 100 miles of which we 
know nothing; but. it is fair to presume that it is ice and water. 

151. ~Tr. Ellice.] But still that is not actually discovered?-No. 
15~· ('fwil'Jllilil.] The facts you have stated do not show that the North-west 

Passag.e wa~ ma.de by.any one of t~ose individuals'l-Supposing that it was 
water m VIctOrIa StraIt, and supposmg Franklin's crews to have gone by way of 
that track, .then they would ha~e discovered the North-west Passage as com­
pletely as It was done by Captam M 'Clure. The main continent of America 
was circumnavigated if they made that passaO'e. 

153· . Sir R. Peel.] your opinion is that,il'anypartyis entitled to the reward 
for .hanng ~nade the l'\orth-west Passage, Sir John Franklin's expedition is justly 
entitlt;d to It? -:-I '''ould n?t say "justly entitled to it," but entitled to be heard 
upon It, as havmg a standmg upon the question. 

154· Admiral Walcott.] I wish to ask whether in your deliberate opinion VOll 

have not arriw~ at t~e conviction that the problem of the North-west P~s~ge 
was solved by (aptam lWClure, and by Captain M'Clure alone, simply upon 

thi~ 
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this ground, that he entered at one end and came out at the other and that he 
.thus proved that it was possible to go by water from one end to the other pro. 
vided the water had not been frozen ?-Undoubtedly. ' 

155. That is your opinion ?-Unquestionably; that he did so in September 
1850. 

156. ~aptain Sco?ell.]. You described a kind of theory, according to which 
you consIdered that It mIght be shown that Captain Franklin had performed the 
North-west Passage ?-I said that if Captain Franklin did as I suppose, he was 
the ~rst pers~n. who e~ected the. North·west Pa~sage; and J may add, that 
such IS the opmlOn of SIr John RIChardson, the hIghest possible authority on 
all arctic affairs. 

157. How do you make out that there is a North-west Passage, going from 
where he entered to the spot where the remains were found ?-The 100 miles 
of Victoria Strait was the only link wanting; the whole of the north-west coast 
of America had been discovered by prior explorers. 

1,58. You mean that he wuuld have made up the deficiecy ?-He would have 
made up the wanting link. 

159. But he would not himself have performed the whole passage ?-Except 
lthat Captain Franklin did himself discover a great deal of that coast in different. 
voyages, and some of his crew may have completed the whole. 

160. When you say that Captain M'Clure is one of those who have performed 
the North-west Passage, and when you now admit that Captain Franklin did not 
perform it, but only performed a portion which was not previously made out, 
will you state what other person besides Captain M'Clure has performed the 
North-west Passage ?-No one individual has actually discovered the whole 
,distance; what Captain M'Clure did was, that he crossed over the unexplored 
part, so as to connect the links; but he did not do so in his ship. 

101. He entered Behring Strait, he came to the Bay of Mercy, he passed 
over a gTeat distance on the ice, and he came to England by water ?-Un­
doubtedly he was the first to go over the whole distance; all that I wished to 
do was, to guard myself from saying that he was the first discoverer of the 
North-west Passage, and to state that I think it is quite possible that others may 
have discovered it before. 

162. When you contend that some one else may have made the North-west 
Passage, do you mean from end to end, or a portion of it ?-A portion of it ; the 
only portion required to solve the problem. 

163. Should you put a person who merely made out the remnant of the 
passage previously undiscovered on an equality with a person who had per­
formed the whole passage from end to end?- I do not wish to put it in that 
manner; I only state the possible fact. 

164. But you do not know as a fact that Captain Franklin did discover that 
portion of the passage \'-N o. 

165. Mr. Ellice.] I gather from your evidence that Captain M'Clure is the 
first and only person who has gone from sea to sea as the discoverer of the 
North-west Passage?-Yes. 

166. There may be others who may have discovered it, but we haw no evi­
dence of it ?-Just so. 

167. Sir 1'. Herbel't.J Do you know of any other way in which any person 
has gone from sea to sea, except that which has been accomplished by Captain 
M'Clure ?-As far as we know, he is the only person who has done it. I am far 
from wishing in any degree to diminish Captain M'Clure's merit; he and 
his crew did their work gallantly and nobly, but I wish to guard the Committee 
from pronounciucr a decision upon the priority of a discovery which may be 
proved to have b~en made by another; which possibly a few months may show 
to have been made by another. . . . 

168. Upon what grounds do you rest that Supposltlon; you allude to Su' 
John Franklin a& having possibly made the p~or disco~ery ?-:-I do. . . , 

169. Then the proof depends upon there bemg certam of hIS party shll alIve ~ 
-Or some of his journals or 102:8 being brought home, that may prove how the 
party reached the spot at which their remains were found. 

I iO. Admiral Walcott.] But that would not prove that they reached Behring 
Strait 1-1'10; but it would prove that the problem of the North-west Passage 
was solved. 

J 71. So it is solved, because Captain M'Clure has gone from sea to sea :--
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But the discovery of this passage cannot be a!tributed to any on~ individual ;: 
it is a ,;eries of exertions which has been contmued for about 30 years. Had 
Captain )I'Clure arrived at that spot without anyone having preceded him 
there, he could never have attempted to cross either to .Port Leopold or to 
Beechev Island; others have assisted him, and chiefly Captam Kellett, who has 
describ~d the aid he rendered with great modesty. Kellett was the person that 
held out the right hand of assistance to M'Clure in his pr.ecarious situa~ion. 
Without that aid it is possible that some one of the party lllIght have survIved 
to reach Beechey Island; but it is only a bare possibility. 

17:2. }Ir. Ellice.] Is not it the fact that Captain l\l'Clure actually performed 
the whole circuit himself: - He has actually done that, but he profited greatly 
by the yoyages of others. 

] 73. But what other people had discm'ered, he has actually gone over him­
self, and he has completed the whole b~' performing the link that was wanting 
before .?-Yes. 

1 i4. Admiralll"aicolt.J You must understand that there can be no desire on 
the part of the Conm:ittee to detract from the great merit due to the indomitable 
perseyerance and exertions which have distinguished all the Arctic discoverers, 
and the great privations which they have gone through; but ,ye are met here 
simply to ascertain the point whether Captain M'Clure has or has not solved 
the problem of the North· west Passage by having entered at one end and come 
out at the other ln' water ?-If I understand that the Committee is not to decide 
the priority of di~'coH'ry, I have not a word to say. That is the only point I 
wish to guard. 

175· Captain Scobell.] If 1\ e did give a decision upon the priority, have you 
any strong ground for stating, in fact, anything amounting to proof that any 
one else did it before Captain M'Clure :-No; but I would beg the Committee 
to suspend their opinion till the result of the researches of the Hudson's Bay 
travellers who haw gone to the spot shall be known. It will be known in a few, 
months, or in a year at the outside. 

176. You are a"are that Captain l\1'Clure's orders were to go to Melville 
Island from Behring Strait? - Yes. 

I 77. Of course he \\ as not deprived of the previous discoveries of other 
voyag-ers to aid him ?-Certainly. 

178. Availing himself of the previous discoveries, he made the whole passage? 
-He did. , 

179· ,\Ir. Gordon.] Are not the solving of the problem and the performance 
o~ the passage two wry distinct things; even supposing Sir John Franklin and 
~u~ crew t'l have done all that you suppose them to have done, then they \\'ouid, 
It IS true, Jlave soh'ed the problem by ascertaining that there was water the 
whole \\ ay; but they \\'ould not have performed the whole passaO'e alonO' the 
north coast of America :'--1\0. possibly not. 0 0, 

180, That is what Captain M'Clure has done and which no one has done' 
before :-Ye~. ' 

I S ~', Sir T. Herbert. J Do you suppose .that anyone of the party of Captain 
FranklIn could haye gone out by Behrmg Strait ~-It is not impossible; we 
have no proof to the contrary. 

] t':2. Supposing ,,'.e adopted your supposition, that some of them arrived at 
the spot that you pomted out, do you think it probable that they could have 
~o?e on ~rom thence, and gone out by BehrinO' Strait ?-It is not probable; 
It IS pOS~Ibh~. 0 

l. ~3· .\Jr. Ellic.e.J I gather from your evid~nce, that from the information 
w~I~h the l\dnmalty have received, you doubt very much whether Captain 
M ~lure ,\'oul~ haye got s~fely ~hrough the passage had it not been for the aid 
WhI~h he deflved !rOlll Cap~am Kellett ~-I think it is very doubtful; it is 
po~sIble: but I thmk Capt am Kellett contributed mm:t materially to their 
assIstance . 

. 184. '\1r. /~tep!ltiIS~JII.J Do you not consider that the arrival of Lieutenant 
Pim from Captam Kellett's vessel was in fact the first demonstration of a 
Nor~IHrbt Pas.sage actually existing :-·No; Captain M'Clure had crossed over 
the Ice to Melville Island before, and left a notice. . 

Captain \ 
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Captain Robert John Lemesurier M'Clure, R. N., called in; and Examined. 

185. Chairman]. YOU are aware what this Committee is assembled for. 
The Committee are desirous of having from you a short and correct, but 
succinct statement of your passage from the Pacific to the Atlantic Ocean. 
Will you state first the substance of your orders ?- I have a copy of my orders 
which I will hand in. ' 

[The same was read, as folloU's : ] 

Her Majesty's Ship" Enterprise;' Oahee, 
29 June 1850. 

M~~10.-S0 soon a, Her l\J aj~sty'~ ,hip under your command i., filll~' complete with 
provl8lon~, fuel, and water, you WIll make the ]'c"t of your W:ly to Cape Li~bul'llc, keep­
ing a good look-out for" Herald" or C:l,k-, and firing i!'lllh' in J; 'ggy weather after l'as~ing 
St. Lawrenee. The whalers also may afford you information of our proO'ress. 

Should you obtain no intelligence, you will understand that I intena'"'to make the pack 
close to the American "bore. and pursue the fir,;t favourable opening west (If the coast 
stream, l)ressing forwards towards Melville Island. In the event of meeting land, it it' 
most probable that I would pursue the southern sh()re, but con"l'iclIulI" mark" will be 
erected if practicable, and iuformation buried at a 1O-j; ,ot radiu:,. 

As it is neces~ary to be prelJUred for the eontinrreney of v"ur not being able to follow, 
by the ice closing in, or the severity of the we~ther, YOli will in that casp keep the 
"Investigator" as close to the edge of the pack a" i" consistent with her ;mfety, and remain 
there until the season eompels you to depart, wben you will look into Kotzebue Sound for 
the" Plover," or information regarding her po~ition, and having rl('p(),it~(l under her 
charge a twelvemonth'" provision, you will proceed to Yalparaiso, replenish, and return to 
the Straits, bearing in mind that the month;: of June and.T uly are the 11I0~t favourable. 
A letter from the hydrographer relatiye to the variation (If the cUllll,a,-, i" annexed, :lnd 
you will bear in mind that the value of these obsenatinw will 1:(' greatly enhanced by 
obtaining the variation with the ship's head at every second or fourth point round the 
co~pass, occasionally, and she should be swung for deviation in harbour as often a" opl'or­
tumty may offer. 

Should you not find the ,. Plover;' or that any casualty has happened to render her 
inefficient as a depot, you will take her place; and if (at' Captain Kellett ~uI'I'0"e,,) 
Kotzebue Sound has proved too exposed for a winter harbour, you will proceed to Grantley 
Harbour, leaving a notice to that effect on Chamisso Island. The attention of your oftil'crs 
is to be called, and you will read to your ship's company the remarks of :-;ir J. Richardi'on 
concerning the communication with the Esquimaux contained in the Arctic Report received 
at Plymonth. 

Your operations in the season of 1851 cannot be guided by me, nor i" there any o(,l'a"ion 
to urge you to proceed to the N. E. ; yet it will be highly desirable previous to entering 
the pack that you completed provisions from the ,dIaler", and ()btained as much reindeer's 
meat as possible; Captain Kellett's narrative will point out where the latter is to be had 
in most abundance, and where coal can be picked lip on thc be:ll'h ; but husband the latter 
article during the winter, by using all the drift-wood in your power. 

In the event of leavincr the Straits this season, you will take any weak or "iekly men out 
of the" Plover," and replace them from your crew, affording Commander ~I()ore all the 
assistance in your power, and leavinO' with her ~Ir. Miertching, the interpreter; instructions 
with regard to whose accommodatio~ you have received, and will convey to the Captain (II 
the" Plover." 

To Commander M'Clure, 
H. M. S. " Investigator.'-

(signed) Rd. Collinson, 
Captain. 

Should it be the opinion of Commander Moore that the ~ervices of the" Invc"tigator'" .. 
ship's company in exploring par!i~B durin~ the BEring w~uld be attended wit!l mater~al 
benefit to the object of the expedItIOn, he WIll, notwlt~standJllg th~~e orders, ~etam !"(!u tor 
the purpoi'c; but care lllu"t be taken that your effiCIency as a salhng vessel IS not CrIppled 
by the parties not returninO" in time for the opening of the ice. 

e " R. C.'-

186. Will you now have the goodness to point out on the chart exactly ,,~at 
you did; will you state when you left England, and the course you took.:­
We left England on 20th January,1850. A few days after that I recelyed 
orders from Captain Collinson, in case of parting company, to rendezvous at 
thE' Straits of l\lagellan. A few days subsequently we parted company by 
accident, and did not meet again until the 17th of April, in the Straits of :\Ja­
gellan. On the 20th, we left the Straits, towed out by the" Gorgon" steamer, 
and parted company the same night in a heavy gale of wind, and did Ilot meet 
again till we came to England. On arriving at Oahu, in the Sandwich Island:,;, 
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I received orders from Captain Collinson to make the best of my way to Behring's 

Straits. d ~ It . th 
187. What was the place whence you receive? those or ers. ~ was. In e 

Sandwich Islands. And in the event of not bemg able to get ~nt? the Ice that 
year, to return to Valparaiso; and, in that event, to return agam m the foll?w­
ing year to penetrate the ice, and to follow him along the coast o~ AmerIca, 
and make the best of my way towards the north-east, towards MelvIlle Island. 
All other orders were left to my own discretion. In the latter end of July 
I fell in with the "Herald," Captain Kellett, off Cape Lisburn~. I. commu­
nicated with him, and gave him a copy of my orders. I ~ad lmagmed t~at 
Captain Collinson had preceded me into the ice, and was anxIOUS to follow hIm. 
Captain Kellett gave me permission, but in the course of the aftern?on m~de 
a signal to me that I had better wait 48 hours to see whether Captam Collm 
son arrived. 

188. Captain Scobell.] That was the same Captain Kellett that you met at 
"i'Ieh'ille Island afterwards ?-The same officer. I signaled back to say that the 
service was of such importance that I could not remain upon my own respon­
sibility. Captain Kellett gave me no further orders, and I proceeded, Then, 
on the 6th of August, I went round Point Barrow, meeting with different 
obstructions, and went along the coast of North America, along this track 
(pointing out the same on the chart), with various stoppages. And it appears 
that I passed Captain Pullen at the mouth of Mackenzie River. In September 
we made Baring Island. I landed and took possession of it in the name of 
Her Majesty, and called a height Nelson's Head. I then went up a strait, 
to which I gave the name of Prince of Wales Strait, as far as 730 north 
latitude, and 1170 longitude. The ice then came before the north-easterly wind 
from Barrow Straits, and prevented any further progress in that direction. 

189. How near were you then to the extreme end of Prince of Wales's 
Strait ?-W e were about 20 miles; 1 was then beset, and drifted down the 
Straits again round two small islands here (pointing out the same), and was 
finally frozen in off Princess Royal Islands. We drifted in the ice with different 
degrees of danger and difficulty amongst shoals and grounded ice; and got 
finally frozen in on the 9th of October 1850. When we were frozen in I 
crossed over and took possession of the land on the east side of the Strait, 
called Prince Albert Land, after his Royal Highness. And when the ice was 
firm, on the 21 st of October I started with a sledge to ascertain if the water in 
Prince of Wales Strait communicated with that of Barrow Strait, which would 
prove the existence of a North-west Passage. On the 26th I arrived at a 
point, which I called Point Russell, and at an elevation of several hundred feet, 
had an opportunity of seeing, with a very clear horizon, that this was one mass 
of heavy ice; which established, in my mind, the existence of a passage. 
The ship remained in her position for nine months, till July 1851. On the 
14th J uly~ when t~e ice . brok~ up, we drifted about, and on the 14th of August 
I.was as fa; as thIS ~gam (pomtmg out the spot), and again met with obstruc­
tion; the Ice came m ~rom Barrow Straits and prevented our getting any 
further. I then determme~ upon. trying to the westward of Baring Island. 
, I !)O Upon the second time, ,Iild you get any further in Prince of Wales 

StraIt than you had done be.fore r-No, I was near the same spot. Then on 
the 14 tho of August, findmg that I could not proceed in that direction, 
I determmed to endeavour and make a passage to the westward of Baring 
Island. 

~ 9.1• Had you previously travelled across the island, so as to know the width 
of It :-No, I had not. 

19?· Admiral Walcott.] Why did you make no attempt to communicate with 
':\Ieh'~lle Island, when you reache~ the furthest extremity of Prince of Wales 
Inlet :-It was ~hen. October, ~nd It was too late to travel; and the following 
year I had partIes.m other dIrections, which I thouD'ht more important to 
explor~ for the object of the expedition~ which was t~ find traces of Sir John 
Frankhn; I had parties in three directions. On the 14th of Au~st I bore up 
anti ran to the westward of this island. ...' 

.193· I wis~ to .know the ~istance from the extreme point which you reached 
",llh your ShIp, tIll you .arrived round the point at the furthest end of Baring 
I:land, whence .you. ultImately communicated with l\lelville Island ?-The 
dIstance from thIS pomt round there (pointing out the same on the chart), was 

about 
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about 600 miles; we had great obstacles, and were very near being wrecked 
several times along the north-west coast of Baring Island where it was so 
exposed to the ice. The water was so very scanty that I h~d barely room to 
get the vessel betw~en the .rocks and the ice without listing her over, to 
prevent the boats bemg carrIed away against the ice, and falling upon the 
rocks. After several escapes we managed upon the 24th of September to O'et 
into what I have termed the Bay of Mercy. 0 

194. What was the prevailing wind at that time ?-The winds were variable. 
Occasionally we had strong gales from the southward, which lasted two or three 
days, but they had no effect upon the mass of ice. The first open water only 
extended about half a mile from the shore; we went off in the pack, but by the 
use of gunpowder we managed to extricate ourselves from the ice, and we 
succeeded in getting along this coast, where, on the :24th of September, we 
ran ashore upon a reef, and on the following morning we got into a small bay. 

19.5. That was in the year 1851 ?-On the 24th of September 1851. 
196. Sir T. Herbert.] What reef is that ?-A small reef consisting of debris 

coming out of a large ravine; when the ice breaks out in the summer, a large 
rush of water carries the debris out, and upon that we ran ashore. 

197. Will you mention the point ?-Providence Point. There I remained 
until I left the ship, by the order of Captain Kellett, in June 1853; the ice 
never broke out of the bay during the time I was here, and in the summer of 
1852 there was no water whatever ~een in this part of the Straits, but there was 
a channel of water about six miles in length along the cliff of Banks Island; 
that was the only water we saw; the consequence "yas, that the vessel could 
not move, and there she remained. 

198. What did you do during the time that you were frozen in there :--\Ye 
got in there, as I have stated, on the 24th of September 1851 ; where the vessel 
was frozen in; and in the following year, in April 185:2, I crossed over with a 
sledge to Winter Harbour, in Melville Island. 

199. Chairman.] How many were with you 'I-Six men and an officer. I 
there found a notice from the present Captain .M'Clintock, who had been de­
spatched from the" Resolute" under Captain Austin, and had arrived there the 
previous year; he stated that the vessels were in different directions, looking 
for Sir John Franklin, and that a depot was left at Beechey Island, and also at 
Port Leopold, which [ was aware of before. After having examined this, and 
left my notice, 1 returned to my ship in May 1852. The ice during that 
summer never opened at all except along Banks Land; and the consequence 
was, that the ship never moved. Then, in April 1853, Captain Kellett sent 
Lieutenant Pim across to me, stating that the" Resolute" was at Dealy Island; 
upon the following day I crossed over to Captain Kellett with a sledge',; crew, 
and then I received instructions which led to the abandonment of the ship. 

200. Admiral TValcott.] What was the distance of your ship from Wintel' 
Harbour?-One hundred and fifty miles. 

201. What distance from the nearest point of )Ielville Island ?-About 60. 
I had a survey held upon the crew, according to the orders which I recei,'ed 
from Captain Kellett, and allowed the men to volunteer to remain· out for that 
season, in the hope of getting the vessel through; 20 men were the least that 
I could undertake to attempt to navigate her home with; and Captain Kellett 
very kindly acceded to my wishes to attempt to get her through, if I could get 
the men. However, only foUl" were found to volunteer. Consequently, on the 
3d of June 1853, I left the ship, and joined Captain Kellett in the " Resolute." 

202. Chairman.] Will you now trace your course after that ?-In August 
1853, we broke out in a gale of ,yind, expecting to run down Barrow 
Straits; but we were stopped by ice in Byam Martin Channel. There we 
remained till September, when a gale of wind broke out again; and, in a heavy 
snow-storm, we got stopped here (pointing out the spot on the chart), 30 ~il~s 
south-west of Cape Cockburn, where the vessel was eventually frozen Ill, III 

October of the same year; and in the following year, in April 1854, orders were 
received from Sir Edward Belcher for myself and crew to proceed to Beechey 
Island and join the" North Star." 

203. How did you get there ?-By a sledge, over the ice. I arrived at the 
" North Star" ~7th April 1854. . ' 

204. Admiral lValcott.] That ice was upon frozen water, not Ice upon land ~ 
-Certainly not; it was frozen water. In August 1854, we left Beechey Isla~d 
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in the" North Star" and came home through Lancaster Sound, and across Baf­
fin's Bay to LievelY where I removed into the "Phrenix," by the order of Sir 
Edward Belcher, an'd finally reached England, across the Atlantic, .on the 30t~ 
of September 1854. That is an epitome of my four rears and mne months 

service. . . d'd 
:::!05. Captain Scovell.] When you parted from. Captam Colhnso~, 1. any 

communication take place, either in writing or by SIgnal, as to your mtentIOns ? 
-No' the only orders I received from Captain Collinson were verbal orders to 
keep ~ompany "with him. . ., . 

2(16. Did you telegraph anyth~ng to. hIm :-No,. not~mg.. . 
207. Did you telegraph your mtentIOn of runnmg ll~to the Ice and ,takI~g 

your chance :-1 think that refers to ~ tel~graI?h WhICh I made to Captam 
Kellett. It ,Ya" after parting company WIth Captam Kellett. He made a SIgnal 
to say that I had better wait 48 hours, to give Captain Collinson a chance of 
coming up. I was of opinion that he ~ad already gone on be.fo.r~ me, an~ I 
made a signal then that I could not mnt upon my own responslblhty, knowmg 
the importance of the service; Captain Kellett gave me no further orders, and 
I proceeded. ., . . . .. . 

208. Did vou :"tate your mtentIOn of runnmg your ShIp mto the Ice :-Cer-
tainly not by signal. i was with Captain Kellett on board his own ship, and 
there we talked of it, and I told him it was my intention to go in. 

20l). Admiral Walcott.] Your opinion ,\'as that Captain Collinson had pre­
ceded you :-Yes; but I found afterwards that Captain Collinson had not come 
up to Behring's Straits. He had left Oahu before me, but he had not arrived 
at Behring'l:> Straits. I ,Ya" there a fortnight before him. 

~ J I). Captain Scobe/l.] Supposing Captain Kellett had not communicated 
to you by Lieutenant Pim, had you formed any design what your next step 
would be '1-Yes; I had made arrangements for sending half my crew home. 

211. In what way ?-Eight of them were to go by the" Mackenzie," and the 
remaining 20 by BeeclleY Island; they \Y{'re to start six days after Lieutenant 
Pim arrived on the 15th, the day on which they ultimately started to come to 
Captain Kellett, 

:2 ) 2. How long would that have been after Lieutenant Pim reached you ?­
J had made arrangements for them to start Hine days after the day on which 
Lieutenant Pim arrived. 

218. What provisions had you left?-I had 12 months' provisions for the crew 
I intended to retain on board; I intended to retain half till 1854, in the hope 
of navigating the ship through in the season of 1853. 

21 4. Knowing what you now do of all the circumstances, what do you think 
would have been your prospect of escape, if Captain Kellett had not sent 
Lieutenant Pim to you ?-My opinion is the same now as it was then; I con­
sider that "e should have lost four men; there were four men so weak that 
I tlJOught they would have perished upon the road. 

21~. Do you think you would have made your escape ?-I do. 
21 b. If you had not found provisions in Beechy Island there was another 

d,:,pot that you knew of?-Yes; I was with Sir Jam'es Ross ~hen it was planted 
there, and from the notice I received from Captain M'Clintock I thought the road 
was perfectly secure. The depot at Beechey Island was a small one, but the 
other was a large depot. with 12 months provisions for 140 men. 

:2 } i· 311'. Ellice. J Who first laid down upon the chart the outline of Banks 
Land"? - I did. 

21 ~. \\' as the channel, which appears laid down here delineated in any pre-
vious chart :-1\ot at all. ' 

:2 J g. In short, t~e whole of Banks Land, and the north-west part of Prince 
Albert L~nd was laId d?wn first by you? - The whole of Banks Land (or Baring 
Island,. WIth the exceptIOn of the part from Point Hamilton to Point Russell,) 
and Prmce Albert Land from Wynniat's furthest to Prince Albert Sound. 

22? ~aptai~ Scohdl.] \Yha,t was the whole period from your entering 
Behnng s StraIts to !our reachmg ~ngl~nd ?-\Ye entered Behring's Straits on 
the 26th of J ul~' 18;)0, and we arrIved m England on the 30th of September 
1854. 

2 21. S~r R .. p eel) You said that you went up twice, or rather you remained 
for the wmter 10 Prmce of Wales Strait ?-We remained there one winter. 

:222. I understand you to f'ay, when you got up to the top of Prince of Wales 
Strait, 
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.strait, you went across to l\lelville Island ?-No; in Prince of Wales Strait I 
left the ship, and travelled to Point Russell only. 

223. You went round by Baring Island to Mercy Bay ?-Yes. 
224. And from Mercy Bay you went across to Ylelville Island 7-Yes. 
22.5. And then you returned to }Iercy Bay:-Yes. 
226. And afterwards an exploring party from Captain Kellett came across to 

you at Mercy Bay r--:: Yes . 
• 227. I~ that .exploring party had not come across to you at "YIercy Bay, was 
It your mtentlOn to have endeavoured to continue round throuO'h Barrow 
Straits ?-Yes; I was going to send half my crew home, and to retai~ the other 
half to endeavour to navigate home. 

22~. You said that you proposed sending your men by Barrow Straits?­
Twenty of them. 

229. How did you know that there was a passage that way ?-Because Parry 
came up that way. 

230. If you were going to spnd your men by Barrow Straits in the following 
year, why did not you go yourself and make the pao:~agt' at once ?-Because I 
wanted to bring the ship home. 
, 23'. If the exploring party from Captain Kellett had not joined you, would 

you still have continued the passage which you were successful in making:­
Certainly, that was my intention; I had made arrangements for it In my 
letter to the Admiralty I stated that that was the cour~,e I intended to pursue. 

:2:32. l\Ir. Gordon.] And you believe that you would have been able to carry 
that out? -Yes, with the loss of those four men. 

233. Sir R. Peel.] It was your determination to have continued the pas~age ~ 
- Certainl y. 

234. Captain Scobell.] 'What was the (lisea~p of those four men whom you 
thought you should have lost :-Scurvy, from in:mfficieney of food; they were 
on very scanty allowallce; only eight ounces of meat. 

:.i35. Your men ,,,ere on short allowance !-They were on wry scanty two­
thirds allowance the last 20 111ontho:. 

236. :\11'. Gordon.] The arrival of the party from Captain Kellett converted 
what wa~ before a possibility into a certainty '!-y(j";; I think tl1('re i" no doubt 
that many of them would have got hOllle perfectly safe under any circum­
stances. 

23i. Sir T. Herbert.] When you left the" Investigator," you left considerable 
property in her, did you not :-1 left all my things behind, with the exception 
()f a portmanteau. 

238. Did you get any remuneration for what you left :-1 di.d; I received 
100i. from the Admiralty. 

239. Was that the full value of what you left ?-No, it was not the full value; 
I made no specific demand. I asked for the allowance due to my rank, and 
I received 1O0l. 

240. Did your men receive anything for what they left in the ship: - They 
l'eceived 3l. a man, according to the instructions. 

241. Was that equal to the value of the property which the crew had in the 
ship?- No, it certainly was not equal to it; but they received a great quantity 
of presents. 

242. Presents from whom ?-Presents from the Admiralty in clothing. They 
gave them an excellent suit of box-cloth and flannels every year. 

24.3. Sir R. Peel.] In fact, as regards remuneration, they were satisfied:­
I think so. 

244. Captain Scobell.J And the men had double pay ?-They had double pay 
the whole time. 

245. Aftel' you left Captain Kellett, did you at any time run your ship into 
!he ice, and take your chance in the ice :-Only once or twice I did .that: ] t 
IS only in cases of emergency that you do that, because the great obJe~t ~s ~o 
keep out of the ice, so as to have the vessel in command, for when ollce It IS m 
the ie.e, it is helpless. .' . . .. . 

240. Mr. Gordon.] A previous WItness has stated that m hIS opmlOn, If your 
ship had been furnished with any steam power, you would have hee~ ab~e, 
when YOll saw open water towards Melville Island, to force your way mto It,. 
an? ~o have made your passage; is that .your opinion :-Yes, I cert.~inly am of 
opmlOn, knowing what has been effected smce by steam-vesseb, that 11 I had had 
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steam ower. I should have gone through in 1851. It was a. very open seasoIi~ 

d p. . . 's that I should have got through, especIally as the uncer an my ImpreSSIOn 1 • ltd . 
taint r of the nature of the ice is so great, that what appears entIre y 0- ay Im-

ossfble is to-morrow changed, and becomes pe~fectly open water; . altho~gh 
baptain' ~enett~s testiIIl:0ny upon the subject is certamly worthy of conSIderatIOn. 
But that I~ my ImpreSSIOn. 'f h 

247. You think you would have been able to perform ~he passage 1 you ad 
had steam power ?-I think so; but I might have met WIth the same result as 
the "Resolute." . C 11' 'I 

248 Captain Scobell. ] You left notices for Captam 0 mso~ r- w.as not 
aware' that Captain Collinson was behind me; but I left notIces WhICh he 
ultimately found. . ' , 

249. You saw no trace uf Captam Franklm :-None whatever. 

Veneris, 6° die Julii, 1855. 

MEMBERS PRESENT. 

Mr. Mackinnon. 
Admiral Walcott. 
Sir Thomas Acland. 
Mr. Gordon. 
Captain Scobell. 
i::3ir Thomas Herbert. 
Sir Robert Peel. 

Mr. Ellice. 
Mr. Wilson. 
Mr. Jackson. 
Mr. Ker Seymer. 
Mr. Butt. 
Mr. Stephenson. 

WILLIAM ALEXANDER MACKINNON, ESQ., IN THE CHAIR. 

Sir Rodcrick Impey MU1'chison, called in; and Examined. 

250. Chairman.] WILL you have the kindness to state your position in ~on­
nexion with the Royal Geographical Society ~ -·1 have been on former occaSIOns 
President of the Royal Geographical Society. I am now Director-General of 
the Geological Survey of the United Kingdom. 

251. In your capacity of President of the Royal Geographical Society have 
you turned your attention to the Polar Regions; have you paid much attention 
to the different expeditions which have been ordered in that direction for the 
purpose of discovering a North-west Passage ?-Unquestionably I have. I may 
state, that in the year 1845 I was President of the Royal Geographical Society, 
and it was in that year that myoid friend, Sir John Franklin, sailed from 
this country. I was privy to all the preparations for that expedition, and took, 
very naturally, a warill interest in it. Having known Sir John Franklin for 
upwards of 20 years, and having watched his progress through life, I, of course, 
was greatly interested, perhaps more than most civilians, in the success of his 
efforts to effect the North-west Passage. I may add, that in the years 1852 and 
1853 I was again President of the Geographical Society, and as public interest 
and public sympathy were at that time to a great extent excited by the feeling 
that there was little hope of recovering Sir John Franklin if strenuous 
efforts were not made, I took an active part, as President of the Geographical 
Society, in stimulating Her Majesty's Government to make those exertions 
which other g~ographers as well as myself thought most desirable. I had 
on those occaSIOns every reason to hope for a successful termination of the 
search after Sir John Franklin, seeing the able officers that went out in com­
mand of the various ships. 

, 2~2. Have ru had an opportunity of ascertaining the conduct of Captains 
Colhnson, M CI?r~, and Kellett ~-I have np-ver hesitated to say, and have 
expressed my opmlOn elsewhere, that Captain ~1 'Clure was decidedly entitled to 
any recompense or honour that Her Majesty might be pleased to confer upon 
him, for having been the first person who, to our knowledge, had gone through 
from the east to t~e west, in attempting to make that passage. But whilst I 
make that observatIOn, and am extremely anxious that Captain M'Clure should 

have 
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have due honour and recompense, I am bound to say, that a discovery has Sir 
been mad.e since I formed .the above opin~on, which ought, I think, to induce R. 1. MUf'chi,oll. 

any publIc body who assIgns honour to Captain M'Clure, not to forget that 
which is due to the memory of the brave men who have died, Franklin and others. 6 July 1855· 
For that those men whose relics were found near the mouth of the Back River 
have effected what must be. called a N?rth-west Passage, cannot be doubted 
by. a~y pers?n ~ho has studIed the subject. I am,?ot now going to offer my 
opmlOn (whIch IS ,,:orth~ess probably) as. to whe.re SIr John Franklin may have 
been, or how occupIed, III that space of tIme whICh elapsed between the period 
when we know that he was at Beechey Island and the period when his party 
were last seen alive in the latitude of King' William's Island, or farther to the 
south, near the mouth of Back River. It is very possible, as some geographers 
think, and I am disposed to think so myself, that, with his adventurous and bold 
character, Franklin did endeavour to proceed to the north; and I confess I was 
always one of those who thought that, having failed to get to the south, he 
would try to get to the north through Wellington Channel. It is not by any 
means clear, because we have now heard of his efforts near to his old adventures 
along the north coast of America, that therefore he did not previously attempt 
those extensive northern explorations which many of us gave him credit for. 
But be that as it may, we have I think unquestionable proof, as derived trom the 
articles belonging to him, from the evidence of the Esquimaux, and from all 
the facts narrated by Dr. Rae, that his party arrived very near to the mouth 
of Back River; and it is fair, I think, to infer that his ships were not very far 
from him, because a party was seen dragging a boat, if not boats. Now, in 
doing this, he strictly obeyed the orders of the Admiralty. He and his party 
lost their lives in steering to the south-west, and had absolutely reached the 
mouth of the river which had been explored by Sir George Back. Now, as 
the delineation of the coast of America, and the existence of a water-channel 
along it, were previously ascertained, it follows, that when the mouth of th", 
Back or Fish River was reached from the North-east, the North-west Passage 
was accomplished. 

253. What evidence have you that he got there by water; is not it possible 
that he got one of his boats and dragged it over land in the hepe of meeting 
with water ?-It is possible, but I think there are other grounds for the inference 
that the ship might not be very far off. The Esquimaux stated that books and 
utensils, besides the ornaments which were brought away, were carried by the 
party. I think it is very unlikely that men struggling for their lives would carry 
books, particularly heavy books. I therefore apprehend that the ships were not 
far off, and that they probably were plundered by the Esquimaux; I however 
only state this as a hypothesis. But in answer to the question, allow me to say, 
that if Sir John Franklin got to the mouth of Back River, partly by water, partly 
by sea, and partIy by ice over water, he did exactly by another route, that which 
Captain M'Clure has since done in the "Investigator;" for there is no passage 
open to a ship by the northern part of Banks's Land. I beg; to state empha­
tically, that I do not make this ohservation with a view to detract in the slightest 
degree from the merit of Captain M'Clure; I think him eminently entitled to 
all the honour and reward that may be awarded to him. But I hope that this 
Committee, in recording their opinion of the merits of Captain M'Clure, will 
couple it in some way with a record of their high sense of the merits of mr 
illustrious friend, Sir John Franklin, who had accomplished so much, and had 
obeyed his orders so faithfully. .,. . 

2.14. Can you state what was the flow of the tIdes m that partIcular channel: 
-We know that better from the evidence of Dr. Rae than from any other source. 
HI:' states that on the 20th of August in the year 1851, when he was upon the 
eastern coast of Victoria Land, blocks of ice were flowing southward. Then, 
again, if you collate the facts, that blocks of ice and the current of the str~am 
were flowing southward, that Dr. Rae had defined the land up to that pomt, 
and had discovered portions of wood which he believed might have come from 
one of those ships, with this other f~ct,. th~t Cap~ain Collinson ~as .brou!?ht 
home remnants which he has no heSItatIOn m statmg, belonged, m hIS belIef, 
to the" El'ebus" and" Terror," I think you have all the evidences before you 
which should entitle you to pay the compliment which is due to the merits of 
Franklin and his associates. 

255. Is there not a dispute about the tide flowing, as you say, from the north; 
0.61. C 2 could 
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B . Strait or some other opening on the 
could it not have gone throsug~t .atrIo:ld co~e down Peel Sound, no doubt. 
east side? - From Barrow tral 1 wo f 

. l ' 0' that I am aware 0 . 
There IS no other rea. openmo h mi ht have been some channel on the east 

'2sh. Is it not possIble. that t ere g e competent than myself to speak to 
'd . Y u must exam me persons mor h" 11 d fi d SI e:- 0 tl t the east side of Boot la IS we e ne . 

that point. But I be~ to observe 1 l~h' ch O'oes by the name of Bellot Channel, 
With respect to the httle channe w h~rs ~ill tell vou) whether it is a channel. 
it has even been doubted (as ge0r-ap d that is the only little channel (and if it 
It was frozen over when surveye(, an e l'ndeed) bv which any-thing could have 

. h 't . a very narrow on J 
eXIsts as suc ,I TIsh 1 lly navigable track for vessels must have been 
gone through. e on Y rea 

down Peel Soun~l. ] Y h' doubt that Captain M'Clure is the first 
2 .... Mr. Ellice. ou a-ve no . 

. )1 h h d from sea to sea :-Not a doubt. 
pe~so~ \~~d t~ar~:~as defined upon the chart a passage between se~ and s~ea, 
on -~oth sides of which passage the land has been surveyed and marked. 

Certainly. d' d d 1 'd d only by 
2 ~ And that that passage has been Iscovere an al. own . 

Ca ~£i'n M'Clure ?-I am aware that betwee~ the western ~omt of MelvIlle 

I Ip d d the north-eastern point of Banks S Land, there IS a frozen mass 
s an an h"t 

which has never been seen to melt: no s Ip can pass 1 • 
.-,6 I bserve on this chart that the only passage between the one ocean 

d- tOh' ~her which has been perfectly surveyed is this between Baring Island 
an eo.. I "11 t 11 b h 1 P 'nce Albert Land (poznttnq out tfle same); WI you e me y w om 
~~~ o::line of that land has been surveyed and traced ?-Th~ out!ine of all this 
land was unquestionably first sun·.eye~ a~~d traced by Captam IVl Clure: It ,,:as 
s bsequently surveyed by Captam (;ol11nson, who came up to thIS pomt 
(;ointing out the spot all the '/nap), and went a little beyond the spot to which 
Captain ~I'Clure had advanced; and then he ~etur?ed a~d went as f~r as that 
on his return. But it was first surveyed by Captalll MClure; and It was of 
course by the assistance of Captain Kellett. and the party that he !ient, Lieu­
tenant Pim and others, that Captain "I 'Clure and his crew were enabled to 
traverse this strait. 

261. Therefore we haye in evidence the fact that M'Clure was the first officer 
who made the only passage which is delineated upon the chart between ocean 
and ocean; because this other channel to which you have referred is only a 
supposititious one, and is in part undefined ?-The other channel is to a con­
siderable extent undefined. 

262. That channel has not yet been determined by any survey, and its existence 
is supposititious ?-The conclusion to which many geographers have come, 
including the former Hydrographer of the Admiralty, v.ho has prepared a 
notice on this subject, is that which I have expressed. 

263. But upon the chart that channel remains undefined ?-It does; but it 
is known that the boat and the people had got down to near the mouth of the 
Back River. 

264. Admiral lFalcott.] I understand you to state that you are decidedly of 
opinion, that no question remains upon your mind as to the fact that Captain 
M'Clure has perfected the passage from ocean to ocean ?-Certainly. 

265. 'With respect to Sir John Franklin, I am sure the feeling of the Committee 
goes entirely with yours as to his eminent merits, and 'Ye do not question the 
possibility of Sir John Franklin and his ships having got close to King William's 
Land; but we have no positive proof that he did reach there with his ship, and 
that he might not have hauled his boat over land; whereas we haw positive 
proof that Captain }I'Clure, partly in his ship, and partly by treading upon 
frozen water, completed the passage from ocean to ocean ?-Clearly. Vlith 
regard to Sir John Franklin, lleaye it to the Committee to make such allusion 
as they think. right, aft:-r hearing the evidence. I t is certain, I repeat, that he 
or some of Ins party dId reach the mouth of Back River. 

266. Mr. El!ice.] !,--~e you ~~'are what <?aptain KEnnedy says, who com­
mande.d Lad~: franklIn s expedItIOn, as to thIS supposititious channel; he says, 
.• Hanng satlsfied ourselves that we were upon the west side of North Somer­
,,::'1. it hec~me a questi?n ho~ far the s~a or channel before us might prove con­
t~nuous WIth the ?pemng l~ld down I? our cha~t between Cape Walker and 
Cape Burney. "e had arnved at a pomt where, In pursuance of a plan I had 

the 
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the privilege of submitting to Lady Franklin before leaving England, the future Sir 
.direction of our route must be regulated by the appearance this westel'll sea R. T. Mllrc/,j~on • 
. might present; if such as to afford a reasonable prospect of Franklin's hm'ino-
passed through to the south" (that is by this western channel), "our prope~ 6 July 1355. 
,cuurse would have been south also, but on examining the coast line to the 
northward nothing could be seen b.ut a contin,uous barrier of land, extending 
from North Somerset to an extenSIve land whICh we could distinguish on the 
other side of the channel, and which we have since ascertained to b'e the Prince 
.of Wales' Land of Captain Ommaney." 1'\ ow if Captain Kennedy is right in 
that, it would seem to contravert the supposition of there being a throu!!:h chan-
nel there ?-Since that time the coasts have been sun'eyed on eich side 
of Peel Sound. The coasts of the land to the south of Cape Walker and Prince 
of Wales' Land, and North Somerset, have been defined on both sides, as YOU 

see by the Admiralty charts; consequently Peel Sound is not a thing of imagi-
nation: and a ship might go down that sound under fm'ourable circumstances. 
It is only a question as to the small distance between the point where Franklin's 
ships were supposed to have got, and the extremity of that sound as already 
defined. But give me leave to say, that if Captain Kennedy had followed the 
suggestions (I will not say instructions) of Lady Franklin -for he commanded 
one of the several ships that that nobleminded woman has sent. out in search 
.of her husband-if he had followed her suggestions to go direct south, he 
positivel)' would have come upon the remains of Franklin's party, and would 
have been the first person to have discovered them. 

26i. I understand that the reason why he did not go south, but 'vent north, 
was because of that barrier which he pel'ceived to exist, and which he describes 
as "a continuous barrier of land," Has there bef'n any subi'lf'quf'nt surwy to 
disprove that ?-Captain Kennedy says that the land extendf'd to thf' north, awl 
was united as he thought to the land he was upon. He made an immense 
journey to define the outline of ~ urth SOl11(:'rset, but he madf' no effort to 
go to the south. 

268. Captain Scobell.] With respect to Sir John Franklin, is not what you 
have stated, with respect to part of his route, at the most only a probable 
supposition ?-I only wish, with all deference, to rely upon that whicll i<; fact 
with respect to Sir John Franklin, that he al'riwd at tll(:' mouth of Back 
River. 

269. Supposing he arrived at that point in the most fayourable ,yar rou 
suppose for your theory, yet when the question is \yith respect to a ::\ orth·wl:'st 
Passage from sea to sea, could you compare tiJat circuitous route with the com­
paratively direct route of Captain M'Clure :-. :"1 y ans,ver i~, that if this route 
by the coast of America should prow to be the olll~' nayigable route hy 
water, or by lines of water (which is thf' opinion of many eminent nayigator:o, 
including Sir Francis Beaufort), then unquestionably the man who made it, if 
he was alive, would deserve the honour; but I admit that Captain l\I'Clure has 
been the first to make this passage in his own person, On that account, and for 
his geographical exploration of this very difficult region, and for having abso­
lutely passed over this portion of ice, which separated the one from the other, 
I repeat that he is highly deserving of honour, I only suggest that the \yol'd 
" a" might be substituted for the word" the," by calling it "a X orth-Wf'st 
Passage," in case it should, as I believe it will certainly turn out that there 
,are two North-west Passages. . 

'270. Sir T. AcLand, J Is not the principal object of the evidence you have 
given to recommend that in any report which the Committee may make 
respecting the exertions made to discover a ~orth-west Passage, ,,-e should not 
attempt to anticipate the future by speaking of "the·' ~orth-west Passage, 
when, according to your belief, it may appear that there are other passages 
which have been very nearly, if not quite, attained by other exertions ?-It is 
not merely my belief, but the belief of men whose opinions are entitled to very 
great weight. Among them is the late Hydrographer to the Admiralty, who 
supervised all the Arctic charts, who was privy to the origin of every expedition 
which has been sent out, and whose opinion upon any Arctic question is entitled 
to as high credit as that of any man alire, 

2j I. You stated that you had seen a very valuable paper upon thc general 
subject, drawn up by Admiral Beaufort ?--Yes. 

272. Will it be possible for the Committee to have that paper before them if they 
0.61. C 3 should 
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should so desire it ?-I am not authorised to communicate any suc~ paper.; I have 
here, however, a short extract from it, which perhaps the C.ommIttee w1l1 allow 
me to read. Admiral Beaufort writes, "When future navIgators, whalers, or 
others, induced by their pursuits, and encouraged bf open s~asolls, d~sh th~ough, 
to whom will they look back as their real pJOneers ~ Banks ~tr~It ~nd 
Inn'5tio-ator Strait will never be attempted by them, but a few hours faIr wmd 
and fin~weatherwould run down the track of the "Enterprise" from the westward, 
and lead direct up Peel Sound, through which the" Erebus" and "Terror." 
must have passed, if the ships themselves bore their unfortunate but heroIC 
crews 10 the entrance of Fish River. Those, then, are the men whom future 
nuyigators will honour as the bOlla fide discoverers of the North-west Passage. 
Let -due honours and rewarrls be showered on the heads of those who have 
nobly toiled in deciphering the puzzling Arctic labyrinth, and. who have each 
contributed their hard-earned quota; but let the name of dIscoverer of the 
North-west Passage be for ever linked to that of 8ir John Franklin." That is 
the 0pinion of Admiral Beaufort. 

:2i3. Will you have the goodness to inform the Committ~e whe~her C~ptain 
Collinson diel not, both by ship and upon land, proceed ImmedIately m the 
direction of Peel Sonud towards the spot which you suppose Sir John Franklin 
to hawreached?-Unquestionably; it is quite manifest. 

:2 i 4. So that the value of Captain Collinson's expedition in the direction of 
Victoria Strait will depend in a great degree upon what discoveries Sir John 
Franklin may ultimately be found to have made; the two things are con­
nected together?-Y es; Captain Collinson has the great merit of having 
proceeded in a ship from the west to the east further than any other navi­
gator. and of having conducted that ship under very difficult circumstances 
bet,Yeen the packs of ice and the land, and of having reached so far, that he was 
within a very short distance of the point where he might have rescued Sir John 
Franklin and his crews, had they been alive. I may further be allowed to 
say that the honour of having extricated himself from all those difficulties, 
and haying brought back his ship safe to England, is a distinction which. merits 
the gratitude of the country, and any recompense which it may think fit to 
grant him. That which I have stated with respect to Sir John Franklin is not 
merely the opini.on of Admiral Beaufort, but also of Sir John Richardson, as 
expressed in the "Times" newspaper, and of the American geographers who 
haye sifted the question. It is the opinion of Dr. Hawk, of the Geographical 
Socif'tyof New York, and of Mr. Grenel, who has spent more money in the 
search after Franklin than any other person in America, having nobly sent out 
entire expeditions for that purpose. I am not merely the spokesman for myself, 
but for many geographers, both in this country and in America. 

:2j.'i. Sir T. Acland.] Did I rightly understand you to say that the discovery 
of Peel Soun~ and Victoria C~annel! if it ever be thoroughly substantiated, is 
much more hkely to be practIcally Important than any other that has been 
brought before us? - That is the opinion of Sir Francis Beaufort and of those 
persons who understand the subject much better than myself; and the Ame­
ricans thi~k that the route Captai~ Coll~nson has taken is likely to become the 
cour5e whICh whalers and other ShIpS WIll follow for mercantile purposes. 

'2~6. Chairman.] I wi~h to ask you a question upon another subject, which I 
conSIder of very great Importance for our consideration; I think that, some 
time a.go,. J:ou .s\ated to the Royal Geographical Society that, in your opinion, 
those mdlVld~~ who had explored the Arctic seas had shown so much courage, 
so much devotIOn, and s~ much p~rse~erance amongst the hardships to which 
they were exposed, that If they dId not meet with a substantial reward they 
0.ugh.t, at least, to receive from the country the reward of some honora;y dis­
tmctlOn, such as a medal. Do you continue of that opinion now ?-I not only 
contimi~ o~ t~at ?pinion, but I feel more strongly than ever that the country 
ow~s t~llS dlstmctIon to everyone of t~lOse brave men who were ready to sacrifice 
th~I~ lIves, and underwent such perils as the Arctic explorers did. I am of 
opm~on that not only geographers, but that all naval and military men will 
cons~der th~t the m~n wh~ have so perilled their lives, and have shown so ~uch 
~autI~al skIll, com~med WIth such perseverance and courage, ought to be dis­
tmglllshed ex.actly m the same manner as those who peril their lives in war. I 
am sure that 1 only express the general feeling of the country that all those 

brave 
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brave men ought to be so honoured; and, if yon will allow me to sar it, I think 
that there ~re some of them, at le~st three, who well merit still higher honours. 

'l77. WIll you name the three r-In the order of naval rank in which they 
stand, Kellett, Collinson, and M'Clure. 

~78. Captain Scobell.] Tn suggesting the very proper reward of a medal for the 
navigators in the Arctic Ocean, do not you think that if given at all it olwht to 
be extended to the officers, and to every seaman ?-l meant it so.' b 

279. Sir T. Acla~d.J You. alluded also to higher honours as being due to 
some among them ~-Yes; If I may be allowed to extend my wish, I should 
include another naval captain, who though he did not make the passao-e, did 
much service in that cause. I mean Captain Inglefield, whose first ~oyage 
I have always thought very remarkable in exploring to a more northern l)oint 
than anyone else in sEarch of Sir John Fmnklin. Looking at the whole case, 
geographers have but one feeling, which is that of admiration of all the men 
who have been employed in this search. 

:280. Mr. Ellice.l You think it very desirable that in every case a medal should 
be given to all those officers and mE'n ?-Unquestionabiy. I am of opinion that 
all the seamen, as well as the officers, should receive an Arctic medal. I further 
think that all the explorers in search of Franklin, whether by land or by water, 
and whether they be in Her Majesty's service or not, should be honoured with an 
Arctic medal. Such men as Rae, Penny, Kennedy, Stewart, Sutherland, and 
others, should not be omitted; and I would sugge~t that the American officers, 
De Ha':.en, Kane, &c., who have aided so ably and fearlessly in the search, 
should also ha,'e the same honour. 

William Thoma.1 Domville, M.D., called in; and Examined. 

281. Chairman.] YOU have been in the Arctic regions :--1 have. 
282. Will you state to the Committee what information you may pO';~f'S5 

with reference particularly to Captain Kellett's case. You were in the ship 
with him ?-I was surgeon of Captain Kellett's ship, the " Resolute." 

283. Mr. Gordon.] Were you sent by Captain Kellett to report upon the 
condition and health of Captain M'Clure's ship's company:-In March 18j3, 
a portion of Captain M'Clure's crew, 26 in number, arrived on board the 
" Hesolute" at Dealey Island. In consequence of the state of those men, Captain 
Kellett considered that it was advisable that the remainder should be examined 
to determine upon their state of health. I was then sent across to examine 
and report upon those men, and the conclusion which was come to at that time 
is already in one of the Arctic Blue Books, at page 70. As this report i~ made 
conjointly with the surgeon of Captain M'Clure's ship, 1 would wish it printed 
in extenso, if admissible. 

284. Did you not make another report, which does not appear in the book, 
on the state of the crew:-I kept a Nosological Journal, which we keep to 
return to the Admiralty. 

285. Do you happen to have any portion of that journal with you ?-I do. 
286. Will you have the goodness to read any portio~ of that journal which 

will give the Committee a general idea of the state of health of Captain M'Clure's 
crew at that time ?-Captain lVl'Clure arrived on the 19th of April at Her 
Majesty's ship "Resolute," and he remained on board until the 2d of :'Iay, 
when another party from his ship arrived. "Until this period Commander 
M'Clure had been detained by Captaiu Kellett, the defecti\-e .t,:ondition of his 
sledge's crew (who had doubtless been selected as the most effi~J}t) being such 
as to cause some apprehension for the capabilities of the remainder to make a 
further sojourn in these regions; and most forcibly did the appearance of the 
above detachment justify the measure. Some vague information of their en­
feebled condition had preceded them, the stern reality now presented itself; 
one officer, subject to periods of mental aberration; one man in a ~tate of 
dementia" (or imbecility), "his condition and appearance rendered still more 
pitiable from seyere frostbite of the fingers; two men carried on the sledges, 
the one with scurvy, the other with urinary disease and phlegmonous inflam­
mation of the leg; the remainder all more or less affected with scorbutic disease 
and debility, as indicated to the spectator in the tottering gait, attenuated form, 
:;Ind care-worn expression of countenance, occasionally lighted up as the truth 
and recollection of their altered disposition flitted across the imagi~ation; a 
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chanCTe (as some expressed themsehres) difficult to realize: For several months 
past had their thought.s been pregnan.t wit~, the uncel'tamty of the future, to 
which llO definite results could be aS~lgned. .' . 

:2S;. NIl'. Ellice.] ·When was this journal wrItten ~-At the tIme. 
:283. What was the time :-" Copy of Sick List, and o~Rema~ks appended to 

Nosological Return for quarter commencing 1st April, endmg 30th June 
1853." 

Then that is the year before Captain M'Clure returned to this country: 28g. 
-Yes. 

290. \"as that the second year after he had wintered in that region :-He 
had already heen three winters. ., . 

201. }Ir. Gordon.J How long was that meetmg wIth the men whICh you 
descrihe there after the two ships' companies first met :-The day that they 
arrived at the" Resolute" I inspected them. 

2 9:2. Thi" was the result of your first inspection of them?-Yes. :' .In 
expectation of their arrival due preparation had bee.n made, and ev~ry facIhty 
that our resources would admit of placed at my dIsposal by Captam Kellett, 
who had :1.lso ordered the lower de(;k of the' Intrepid' to be fitted as a 'Sani­
tarium' for their reception, thi!> space being ample in its dimensions, and 
possessed of the advantages of dayligllt and ventilation. .The m~ans of. isolation 
were thus afforded, and to it the worst cases conslgned lmmedIately on 
arrival. 

293. That was the condition of the men who came over from Captain 
M'Clure's ship to Captain Kellett's; will you now give us an account of the· 
inw'stigation which you afterwards held on the remainder of Captain M'Clure's 
ship',;; company, whom you subsequently inspected ?-That is also reported in 
the Blue Book. page iO. Of the 30 men who were on board during the first 
fortnight in :'lIar, no less than 18 were under medical treatment; those were 
the men who arrived in the first week. 

2~14. ::\11'. Ellice.] Those were the men that arrived and were taken on board 
Captain Keliett's ship? - Yes. . 

29.1. ::\11'. Gordon.] The question refers to the remainder of the crew:-Of 
the remainder, five·sixths were affected with scurvy, as is stated in my Report, 
where the names arc given. 

296. How many did the crew consist of that were left with Captain lWClure? 
--Thirty-four men. 

297. ":Mr. Gordon.] You have stated that the part of the ship's company who' 
came over t.o Captain Kellett's ship were all, more or less, in an enfeebled and 
enervated condition. What was the condition of the remainder on board 
Captain M'Clure's ship ?-They were in a very enfeebled state indeed. One 
officer among them, a lieutenant, was unable to come with the first party;. 
I brought him over; he died a few weeks afterwards. They were all in a very 
bad condition. 

29 8. Of those who 'Wl"(' left, how many were sufficiently strong and active 
to be in a condit.ion to do hard work? -There were not certainly 20 men who 
were fit to do work at all. 

299· Speaking as a medical man, what do you think would have been the 
c~nditi?n of that crew if they had had to undergo the rigours of another Arctic· 
wmter ~-A great number of them must have fallen; they had no remedial 
measures left in the ship. 

300. What is your opinion as to the possibility of their having effected their 
escape from that positiun without the assistance that was afforded to them?­
Unless the expedition had been sent from England, I do not think they could 
have found their way to England. 

30 1. Mr. Jackson.] \"ere the crew of Captain !\l'Clure in such a state as 
not to be able to ~ove o? if the season permitted them ?-I think they were;. 
'H' know t?e state m whICh they arrived on board the" Resolute," and if they 
had had ~ Journ~J: of 58 days to perform instead of 16, and if they had had to· 
carry theIr provIsI.ons for 58 days instead of 16, I cannot but infer that they 
must have been In a very much worse condition than that in which we saw 
them. 

302. Do you mean to .infer that if the relief had not arrived, they must, most 
or al~ .of them, have perlshed?-I do; be(!ause when they had arrived after 58 
days Journey at Port Leopold it would be a matter of doubt what the state of 
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that depot was. The depot that was found in those regions was found to be TV. T. Domvule, 
totally inapplicable, as described in Cal'tain Pullen's journal, BIue Book, M. D. 

p.800 . 
. '103. Captain Scobcll.] Captain M'Clure has stated in substance this: that he 6 July 1855. 

bad four men in such a condition, that had he not seen Captaill Kellett at all 
be should have left his ship, and that part of the crew would have been sent t~ 
the coast of America, and a large part would have gone with hi:n to Beechey 
Island, and from thence to another depOt of provisions to the southward; and 
that he thinks that he should have lost four men, but that he should have saved 
all the others, even if Lieutenant Pim had never reached bim; do you think lie 
is wrong in that opinion ?--J do not know what number of the men he intended 
to send in that direction; if I knew the names of the men he intended to ha,·e 
sent in that direction, I could judge better. 

304. Mr. Ellice.] Could any of them have gone ?--Some might have gonC:'. 

Rear-Admiral William Ale.rander Baillie Hamilton, called in; and Examined. 

:)O.'j, Chairmal1.] YOU know the instructions we have from the Home of Rear-Admiral 
Commons to enter into the case of Captains Kellett and Collinson; ,,,ill you TV. A. B.Hamillon. 

have the goodness, as being fully acquainted with the subject, to state to the 
Committee your opinion upon the subject ?-I was here this morning when Sir 
Roderick Murchison was examined; and I have also heard the evidence of 
Dr Domville, and of one or two more witnesses, and that which may be gathered 
f,om their evidence is the same that I should have to repeat. Probably, if 
required to state anything in corroboration, I may allude in particular to Dr. 
Domville's evidence when he spoke of the assistance rendered by Captain Kellett 
to Captain M'Clure's crew. You have heard what he stated as to the condition 
of the men; of course you will know what weight to attach to his opinion as 
that of a medical man. Looking back, as I did last night, to a little \vork, 
drawn up by a very able hand in the office of the Hydrographer of the Admi-
ralty, I met with several letters, both public and private, and I was struck by a 
paf'sage in one of Captain M'Clure's letters to a near relation; he there speaks 
of Captain Kellett as his preserver; he styles him his preserver; and both in 
his puhlic letters to the Secretary of the Admiralty as well as in two other 
private letters, he speak s of the despondency of his crew at the time, or rather 
b~fore he heard of Captain Kellett's arrival; and he contrasts the different 
condition of that crew after bearing of Captain Kellett's arrival with that which 
existed previously, and he describes it as a stute changing from despondency to 
joy. These are his own words, both officially and privately; and they are the 
more remarkable because, in his private letters as well as in the public, there 
is no variation of phrase; the same continues throughout; and although he 
appears to have hoped still to make his way through these perils, I believe 
that the very bravery of spirit and devoted courage, which alone could have 
enabled him to have carried his ship and his crew through the perils they 
had to encounter through three Arctic winters, led him to entertain, and 
candidly and honestly in his own mind to entertain, a more sanguine view as to 
the capability of his crew than the facts and circumstances warranted; and 
I think that when he contemplated sending one part of his crew by Behring'S 
Straits and another to go by Port Leopold, although in the abstract there was a 
possibility of accomplishing both objects, yet he did not sufficiently take into 
consideration the condition and circumstances of the men, attenuated and 
exhausted as they would have been by another winter, and depressed as they 
would necessarily have been by the uncertainty of what was before them. 
Although the men did a positive amount of work in proceeding to join Captain 
Kellett, they then had a certainty before them which kept their spirits up; and 
their having performed a journey with such certainty before them, was no 
measure of their power and capacity to perform a much longer journey with 
great uncertainty; for supposing that there was at Port Leopold (which in itself 
is only a contingency) a supply of provisions, they would probably have had to 
winter at Port Leopold. Then what would have become of the crew in a fourth 
Arctic winter, with aU the uncertainty as to a supply of provisions at Fort 
Leopold, which might or might not have existed there. Then he would have 
had to go through Barrow Strait to Pond's Bay, and thence to Disco, as he 
said he should have tried to do if he found no whalers in Pond's Bay. I recol-
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lect an expression in his letter to the Admiralty to this effect: "After Port 
Leopold, I shall try to get to Pond's Bay, w?ich I. ~now is annually frequented 
by whalers. Supposing I should be too lat~ m arnvlUl?, there, I sh~ endeavour 
to push on with such boats as I have to DIsco Island; a very p~nlous voyage, 
comprising the whole width of Baffin's Bay, .and when he arnved there .he 
would still be in uncertainty. He hoped, he said, to be able to engage, by hIre 
or purchase one of the schooners that annually trade between that point and 
Denmark. 'But there would have been great uncertainty as to finding any 
vessel at Disco that he could purchase or hire, and even if he found one, it 
might be too late to make the voyage that year; and,. if so,. that would have 
involved a fifth winter, in what may be termed an Arctic regIon. Now, I do 
not want medical, if there is any naval officer here, who has passed two or 
three winters in an Arctic region; he can speak better than I can as to the 
effect that every additional winter has upon a ship's company in those regions. 
Therefore, when I look back to Captain M'Clure's own expression in writing 
to his sister, when he says, " To-morrow I hope to see my: preserver," I cannot 
help thinking that he wrote what he really felt at the time; and therefore I 
think the utmost credit was due to any officer who, by his exertions in carrying 
out his instructions, remm'ed all those doubts, and rendered the preservwn 
of Captain M'Clure and his crew, a matter of certainty. And this cre~t was 
certainly due to the energetic and judicious exertions of Captain Kellett. 

306. Mr. Gordon.] Is it not the fact, that in the official despatches Captain 
M'Clure, very much to his credit, and in a very heroic manner, desired that no 
expedition might be sent to look for him in case he was not heard of within a giveD 
time; and does not that fact in itself show that he considered there was consider­
able uncertainty as to whether he should be able to effect his return ?-He did 
say, certainly, "If you do not hear of me in a certain time, there will be an end 
of us." Whether that related to the possibility of his not being able to get 
provisions for another year, or to the danger of his being nipped where he 
mu~t perish, and could not reach provisions, I cannot say; but he certainly did 
say, "If you do not hear of me within a certain time, do not risk another 
expedition," or in shorter words and more emphatic. • 

30 j. Does not that fact, in your opinion, prove that he thought it matter 
of uncertainty whether he should be able to effect his return ?-At the time he 
wrote that, it did, but subsequently he got into a better position. 

308 . Captain Scobell.] Was that certain time which he spoke of expired 
when he first met Lieutenant Pim?-Yes. 

30 9· Chairman.] Does it not help to show the great perseverance and courage 
of Captain M'Clure ?-Certainly; I conceive that the c~ndition in which his 
people were, and the salvation of the crew, were owing, in the first instance, to 
his indomitable spirit, fine temper, courage, and resolution; and secondly, to 
that which he himself stated in his public despatch, the unwearied care, skill, 
and tenderness of Dr. Armstrong, his medical officer. I am glad of an oppor­
tunity of paying tribute to him. 

3 10. Admiral T['a/cott.] You stated that Captain M'Clure, in addressing the 
Admiralty officially upon the subject, stated the way to which he intended to 
have recourse, in case he should be obliged to leave his ship. May not that 
letter to the Admiralty be understood merely as meaning to ask them not· to 
send succour in lhe direction in which his ship was, as he would probably have 
left that spot, and not as saying that he anticipated that he should be irre­
cov.erably lost.?:-I read the. expression as applying to their actual destruction, 
theIr not survl'vmg. That IS the way in which I understood the expression. 

31 1. Mr. !3utt.] He appeare.d. to .consider that there was great risk of his 
never returmng from the expeditIOn ~ - Certainly· there is always a risk· there 
is a risk from first to last. ' , 

312. Any ?~e g~illg.on suc~ a journey over a frozen ocean, must anticipate 
great pro?abIl~ty of bemg lost ;-Certainly; that is a probability which must 
be borne m mmd throughout the whole of such a search. 

3 1 3· Captain Scobell. ] Are the Committee to understand that you consider that 
CaJ?tain M'Clure has ~erfor?led .what may be called the North-west Passage hf 
varIOUS .means; by takmg hIS ship to where he left her, by walking over the ice 
to ~lelVllle Island, and then returning home by the Atlantic ?-The evidence 
whICh I have heard upon that point this morning, is that which I should concur 
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in; Captain M'Clure certainly clearly determinrd what is water, or rather ice 
upon water. 

314. Admiral !Valcott.] He passed from ocean to ocean ?-He passed from 
oCean to ocean, 

315. Sir T. D. Acland.] But it is your opinion that it is not certain that 
Captain M'Clure and his crew could ever have arrived in England without the 
assista.nce of Captain Kellett ?-That is of course a matter of opinion; but I do 
think that some of them would. 

316. Captain ScobeU.] Perhaps you can tell whether when Captain Collinson 
01' Captain M'Clure got their last instructions from home, they had any 
expectation that a vessel would be sent to meet them entering at the opposite 
end?- No, they had no assurance upon that point. 

317. Part of Captain M'Clure's instructions were ultimately to make for 
Melville Island, and it appears that he had made for Melville Island some time 
before Captain Kellett arrived there, and that he had left; there was a notice 
of where he was to be found. Therefore he must have calculated upon some 
probability of meeting with aid ?-He might fairly calculate upon it, for it was 
known that we should continue to send both ways. 

31 8. That was a point which Sir Edward Parry had reached mall y years 
before ?-Yes. 

Captain Robert John Lemesurier M' Clure, R. N. called in; and further Examined. 

319. Chairman.] It5 there anything further that you wish to state to the 
Committee ?-Perhaps I may be allowed to say a word with respect to Dr. 
Domville. When I went over with my men to the " Resolute," they were 
imlnediately placed under Domville's charge, and he paid the greatest possible 
attention to them ill their enfeebled state; and I think that some tribute is due 
to Dr. Domville for his great attention to them. 

Captain Richard Collinson, R. N., called in; and Examined. 

Rear-Admiral 
W.A. B.ncmiltoTl. 
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Captain 
R. J. L. ~l:1'Cllt,.e, 

R. N. 

320. Chairman.] THE Committee have received instructions from the House Captain 
of Commons to reopen the question which is before them, by considering your R. Collinson, R. N. 

services and those of Captain Kellett; will you have the goodness to state to 
the Committee the course which you took, and whatever you think necrssary to 
bring before them, as far as you are concerned ?-I ,would first observe that 
in the year, 1850, on getting up to the ice, I was 18 days behind Captain 
M'Clure, and then I consulted with my officers, and they were of opinion that 
attempting to proceed easterly that season would be a useless waste of time; so 
that the remainder of it was devoted to an attempt to get into the Polar Sea to 
tl)e northward instead of proceeding easterly along the coast. Having reached 
73~·, and being stopped entirely by the ice, I came down to the southward again, 
and knowing that I could be of no use in those seas (the" Plover" being in a 
position to supply the" Investigator "), for the purpose of replenishing my pro-
visions I went to Hong Kong, and returned the following year. Arriving early 
in the season of 1851, I followed the track of Captain M'Clure to the eastward; 
into the Prince of Wales' Strait, and there,I found that he had passed the winter 
in the neighbourhood of Princess Royal Island. Supposing that he had gone to 
the north-east, I followed up to the head of the straits, where the ice blocked the 
entrance, here I remained a short time, but I found that it was coming in too 
fast to afford any likelihood of my getting out to the north-east this season, so I 
then went on the west side of Baring Island, where I again found traces 
of the "Investigator"; but, for the want of any idea as to what Captain 
M'Clure's intentions were, I came to the conclusion, from the quantity of 
provisions which he had left in Princess Hoyai Island, that he had gone 
back to Point Barrow. I did not think that he was to the northward of 
me on Baring Island; but the sea -bein~ still open, I went 70 miles fur-
ther. Then I felt assured that if a westerly wind occurred, my retreat 
would be cut off. There was no harbour that I could get into, and very likely 
my vessel would bE wrecked; therefore I returned, and took up my winter 
quarters at the entrance of Prince of Wales' Strait, where I should have an 
opportunity of examining the depots left by Captain ;\I'Clure, and also of seeing 
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C . whether another strait did not exist between W oUnston Land and Prince Albert 
aptam . ' f 8 l' h d M I '11 I I d R. Cuilir"UII, n. N. Land. The travelling parties m Apnl and May 0 1 5 I.eac e e VI e s ~n , 

__ .. and examined the coast to the southward, £"ntering the mlet now called Pnnce 
Ii July 18,55. Albert Sound. This was in ,\ pril and :\1ay. We did not get to t~e bottom of it, 

but I thought that it would ta~: me into t~e ce~tre o~ the Ar~hlpe.l~o, where 
I should have a greater probabilIty of meetmg with Sir John Frankhn than by 
pursuing a more northerly course. I therefore proceede~ to see whether that 
was a Sound or Strait the first thing the next season, whIch proved a very bad 
one indeed. and I may mention as an instance of it, that although we left our 
harbour on the 5th of August, and we were in sight of it on the 5th of Sep­
tember. The ice hemmed us in on both sides, and it was the 13th of SeptembE'r 
before I ascertained that which I supposed to be a Strait, to be a Sound, and 
that Prince Albert land was joined to Wollaston land. I then came to the 
determination that the best course for me to afford assistance to the missing 
ships would be to proceed to tl,le south-east corner of it; I t?erefo~e ~ent 
throu<Th Dolphin and Union StraIts, and succeeded that season III gettlllg mto 
Camb~idge Bay, and had the condition of the ice next year been favourable I 
should have reached the point gained by Sir James Ross, when he came down 
the coa~t in the year 1849; so that the whole coast would have been completely 
examined. But in consequence of the hummocky condition of the ice, 160 miles 
remains unexplored and it is here, I am almoE't certain, that the ships were 
abandoned. 

321. Sir 1'. D. Acland.] What was the furthest point you reached ?-Gateshead 
Island; it is in longitude 100° The furthest point reached by Sir J. Ross is 
Point Bird; the interval being 160 miles. That is the only part which has not 
been searched in the whole sea. I felt assured that with the trained crews 
which I had, and the assistance of the Esguimaux dogs, I should have reached 
the furthest point gained by Sir James Ross, viz., Bellot Straits; but immediately 
we came to 69th degree of latitude, I found the ice in such hummocks that 
we were obliged to take both crews to one sleigh, consequently we did not 
accomplish so much as we expected. This hummucky state of the ice, I think, 
is one great reason why it may he assumed that the strait is open, because the 
hummucks were 20 feet high, and they could not have been formed without 
immense pressure, and Il1UiSt therefore come from Barrow's Strait. If this were 
a bay, the ice would have cleared out in the same way as I found it in Dease 
Strait, which had scarcely a piece of ice in it, thus establishing, in my opinion, 
the fact of a communication between Peers Sound and Victoria Strait; and I 
thought myself quite as likely to make the passage home in the ship by this 
route as by returningto Point Barrow, and should have taken that course, but 
on examining our coal;.;, we found we were 18 tons short, and therefore it became 
incumbent upon me to return before the ensuing winter to a country where 
drift wood could be obtained. I therefore returned to the westward, and passed 
a third winter in Camden Bay, which is in the Russian territory, from whence our 
egress was comparath'ely short and easy the third summer. 

32:2. You passed through Behring's Straits?-Yes. 
32 3. And there you found the" Plover" :-·We found the" Plover" at Point 

Barrow. I may mention that when we were at Camden Bay a nath'e came to 
us from the eastward, and brought with him a paper which had been printed 
on board the ., Plover," which informed me that she was at Point Barrow, and 
also that the " Investigator" had not been heard of since 1850, I then, for the 
first time, came to the conclusion that she must have been on the north face 
of Bari~g Isla~~; an~, in order to enable Captain Maguire as soon as possible 
to obtam prOVISIOns, III order that we might return, I sent a boat from Camden 
Bay ~~ Pomt Barrow to communicate with the" Plover," that she might collect 
prOVISl?nS, so as to enable us to return to the eastward in the same season, to 
the assistance of our consort, who we then did 110t know had communicated 
with the eastern expeditions . 

• 3:2-1· Admiral TValcott.] You sailed in company with Captain M'Clure' where 
llId you part company with Captain M'Clure ?-At the Straits of M~ellan, 
and I never saw the " Investigator" again. 

3:25: Ca~tajn Sc~belt.J How long wa~ it,from the time that you lost sight ~f 
Captam 1\1 Clure tIll you next met himr-It was from April 1850 to Apnl 
1855; five years. 

326, Did you give him any special orders when he left you different from the 
Admiralty. 
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Admiralty orders ?-Having arrived at the Sandwich Islands before him I came Captain 
to the conclusion that I should be up to the ice before him; I did not ~onsider R. Collinson, R. N. 

it possible ~hat he would. get there first, and so only entered in my official 
despatches mto the question of what should happen if I proceeded without 6 July ) 855· 
waiting for him, and I told him in that contingency what to do. By the advice 
of Captain Kellett I followed up Cook and Beechey's track. But in my private 
letter to Captain M'Clure I stated that Captain Kellett had come through the 
Straits of Amoukta, and that if he was late, perhaps it would be worth while 
risking that passage. He fortunately went that way, and arrived at the edge 
of the ice 18 days before me. Being relieved in a great measure of the respon-
sibility which ensued in consequence of that paragraph in their Lordships' letter 
which enjoined the two ships keeping together, he with a daring, which I 
honour, boldly pushed in. I might be ahead of him, and he took the best alter-
native that could possibly have been taken. Instead of waiting, he went for-
ward, either to succour the missing crews, or to follow me, as he might have 
supposed he was doing. 

327. Admiral Walcott.] You say that you left orders for him at the Sand­
wich Islands; did you also address to him a private letter, and did he ever 
receive those orders or that private letter ?-He received the orders. 

328. Did he receive the private letter ?-I am not aware . 
. 329. Had you the means within your power of keeping company with Captain 

M'Clure from the time you left England ?-Most assuredly. 
330. \\hy did you not ?-Because I thought the service would be performed 

better by the ships separately, until we arrived at the edge of the ice. 
331. What were the orders that the Admiralty gave you upon that point?­

They cautioned me against suffering the two vessels to separate, but until we 
arrived at the ice I thought it more likely we should make a quicker passage, 
as one vessel might have the advantage in sailing in light winds, and the other 
in strong breezes. 

332. Chairman.] Had you appoir.ted any place to meet at in case of separa­
tion ? -Yes, at the Straits of Magellan, as the Admiralty had ordered; and 
next at the Sandwich Islands. 

333. Sir T. Herbert.] Your first object was to get to the Sandwich Islands 
as fast as possible? - Yes. 

334. You had no object in keeping together till you got through Behring's 
Straits? -No; the object of my getting first to the Sandwich Islands was, that 
I might enter into the contract for provisions. 

3:35. Did you give to Captain M'Clure a copy of your Admiralty orders?­
Captain M'Clure was supplied with a printed copy. 

336. Mr. Ellice.] I suppose there is no doubt that, taking all those orders 
into consideration, what Captain M'Clure did was consistent with the orders he 
received ?-Perfectly so. 

33 i· Captain Scobell.] Was IVl elville Island mentioned in the orders ?-We 
were not ordered to go to :\lelville Island. Their Lordships left the course to 
be pursued, after passing Point Barrow, to my discretion and judgment. 

33S. Was not Melville Island mentioned ?-The Parry Islands are mentioned 
incidentally, but not particularly. 

339. When and where did you first overtake indications of Captain M'Clure's 
advance ?-At Princess Royal Island, in August 1851, in Prince of Wales' 
Strait. 

340. When was your excursion made to Melville Island?-The excursion to 
Melville Island was made in the next spring, in 1852. 

341. Did you yourself go upon that excursion ?-I went as far as the north 
end of Prince of Wales' tltrait, and then I followed the north coast to the 
eastward, being desirous to see whether it was ~racticable fo: the ~hip. Li~u­
tenant Parks, the third lieutenant, went from Prmce of Wales StraIt to MelVllle 
Island. 

342. Do you know how long that was after Captain M'Clure had first reached 
Melville Island ?-Twenty days. 

34.3. Do you mean that you were there only 20 days after his first reaching 
Melville Island, when he went and found no one there ?-That was all. 

3 .. 14. Sir 1: D. Acland.J Did your officer find that.he ha? been there ?-No; 
he saw the sleigh tracks, but thought they were EsqUlmaux s. 

345. Admiral l-talcott.] But Captain M'Ciure had entered Prince of Wales' 
0.61. I> 3 Inlet 
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Captain Inlet previously to your' being there ?-He had entered it 10 months' pre~ 
B. Collinson, B. N. viously. .... . . 

34;. It was your ongmal mtentIOn to have endeavoured to reach MelvIlle 
6 July 1855. Island through Prince of Wales' Inlet ?-Yes. 

347. Finding you did not succeed, you then mad~ the other attempt?­
I made another attempt. In consequence .of the J.ourney I made ~p the 
Prince of Wales' Strait I came to the conclusIOn that It would be very difficult 
for a ship to get round Peel Point, a,nd I thou~ht that Prince Albert Soun~ 
which had been examined but not to ItS end, nught have been another straIt 
which would have led me' up to Cape Walker, where I knew Sir John Franklin 
was ordered to go. . . . " 

348. Captain Scobell.] Did you find any mdICatIOns of a,ny ShIpS ha~lDg 
been there?-We picked up on finlayson's Isl~nd, nem: Camlmdge Bay, a pIece 
of wuod which Dr. Rae says was not left by hIm, and It can only be accounted 
for by it~ having come from one of the missing ships. It has the Queen's mark 
upon it, the broad arrow. 

349. Was it oak ?-No; a piece of fir, three feet lon.g. It was part of 
a door; it was the portion of the door that the handle goes mto. 

350. Is it usual to put the broad arrow upon that?-There was a copper latch 
with a broad arrow upon it. 

35]. Admiral Walcott.] What has become of it ?-It is in Mr. Barrow's pos­
session; I believe it has been sent to the dockyard to get an opinion whethel! 
it was part of the fitting of the missing vessels. It had two coats of paint; the 
coat of black had been primed, which is ne\'er done in the merchant service. 
In the merchant service they paint black in the first instance, and then paint 
black oyer black, but in the dockyards it is invariably primed with a coat of 
paint of a different colour; the underside was painted white, over a coat of 
green. 

352. Was not that piece of wood sent to the dockyard, and a report made 
upon it to the Admiralty in reply, and can you state what that report was?­
I have not heard. . 

353· Chairman.] What wa" your impl'ession as to that piece of wood ?-l 
think it must have formed part of the fitting either of the "Erehus" or the 
"Terror." 

354· Admiral Walcott.] Your impression with respect to that piece of wood 
is, that it must have drifted through the channel that is now unexplored ?-Yes. 

355· Sir T. Herbert.] Where was it found ?-On the east side of the Finlay­
son Islands, on the beach. 

356. Admiral fP'a{colt·l Are you satisfied that it could not have belonged to 
your ship ?-Perfectly; one of the men picked it up when I was close beside 
him. 

35i· Captain Scobell.] Does the current set from the northward there?­
The current is governed entirely by the wind. In Dease Strait I found no 
sensible current, except from the wind. 
. 358. Rir T .. Herbert.] What '~as the prevailing wind ?-The prevailing wind 
IS easterly durmg the latter pcrtlOn of the summer, and north-westerly during 
the spring. . 

359· Admi,ral Walcott.] Had you any power of ascertaining the strength of 
that current ~-I had tidal observations made. The ship was in Cambridge 
Bay, exclu~ed from the tide in the Straits, and immediately the ice cleared 
away we salled to the westward; but on leaving Cambridge Bay we were car­
ried by the current to the eastward. 

3lio. Had you been with any previous Arctic navigator ?-I was in the South 
Seas, not in the Arctic Regions. 

36 ]: Sir T. H~l'bcrt.] Do you Suppose that that piece of wood was drifted by 
the wmd, or carried by the tide ?- I think it was carried by the tide. It was 
rubbed at the corners, and it appeared that it had been drifted along by the 
tide. The fracture was evidently not new. 

362. Was it part of a panel ?-It was part of a panel; the two ends of the 
panel were worn away. 

363. Did you ascertain what was the rise and fall of the tide there ?-Two 
feet. 

364. Captain Scobell.l You said that this piece of wood was painted white;. 
do you suppose from that that it belonged to an officer's cabin ?-I think it 
. ~ belonged 
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,belonged to the companion hatchway. When I found nothing else, I came to Captain 
the opinion that one of the screw steam vessels had made the passage, and R. Collimon, R.,N. 

that being short of ~ood they broke up the hatches of her engine-room for 
fuel, and a small plece had dropped overboard. That was the impression I 6 July 1855. 
came to, until I heard that no vessel had been there but ourselves. 

365. Chairman.] Did you form an opinion as to which way the flood came? 
-No; there we found the set of the tide entirely governed by the wind. 

366. Can you say which way the tide comes in ?·-I had a great number of 
observations made, and I found that the pieces of ice, when they floated awav, 
iloated entirely in the direction that the wind was going. The experiment was 
made with pieces that were nearly level with the water, as well as with pieces 
that would be affected with by the wind. 

367. Sir T. Herbert.] The current was governed by the wind ?--Principally 
by the wind; the observations are not many, because the moment the ice broke 
up, we left the bay, and went to the westward. 

368. Did you find the current running to the westward stronger than to the 
eastward? - During the time we were navigating it, I found it running strongest 
to the eastward, because the westerly wind prevailed in the commencement of 
the summer. 

369. Is it more difficult to get to the eastward than to the westward ?-I 
think it is more difficult to get to the west. 

370. Captain Scobelt.] Were your officers and crew healthy generally ?-The 
average during the time they were on the ice was a little more than six per 
cent. on the sick list. The last veal' was the healthiest of the three. 

371. What provisions had you remaining when you left the Arctic Sea ?-­
Two months'. 

372. Sir T. lJ. Acland.] How many deaths had you ?-Three deaths in the 
time we were in the Polar Sea. 

373. When you got to the Pacific did not you go back to the ice again?­
Yes. After rounding: Point Barrow I went round to the southward, and com­
municated with an American ship, which told me that our three ships were 
at Port Clarence; a thick fog ensued, in which the" Plover" passed us on her 
way to Point Barrow. 

374. How did you communicate with her ?-When I arrived at Port Clarence, 
at 10 o'clock at night, Captain Trollope informed me that she had sailed two 
days previously. I sailed the next day to recall her. 

375. You went after her yourself, having just got out of the ice ?-Yes. 
:n6. Did you find her at Point Barrow?-Yes; I found her at Point Barrow, 

and brought her away; she was then preparing to take up her winter quarters. 
377. How far did you go back to Port Clarence from Point Barrow r-About 

500 miles. 
378. How long had you been in the ice yourself?-Three years and two 

months. 
379. Mr. Stephenson.] What amount of new coast did you explore r-In the 

" Enterprise" we added but little to geographical knowledge; what we went over 
had been previously explored by Captain M'Clure and by Dr. Rae, but unknown 
to us; so that the principal geographical feature we accomplished was the posi­
tive ascertainment of the junction of Prince Albert's Land with that of Wol­
laston and Victoria. Dr. Rae had previously gone up Victoria Strait, and we 
have just added a small portion there. 

380. Sir T. D. AcLaud.] I observe that Dr. Rae's furthest is called Point 
Pelly; you mentioned Gateshead Island; is that to the north of Halkett Island? 
-Yes. 

381. Was not the" Enterprise" the first ship that sailed through Dease 
Straits ?-She was. 

382. Therefore you have established the fact that from Victoria Sound to 
Prince of Wales Strait there is a clear navigation ?-The navigation from Barrow 
Strait to Cambridge Bay has been established by the" Enterprise." From 
England a vessel would reach the furthest point to which \ye went, and in all 
probability the Magnetic Pole itself, in 10 months by following the route of the 
" Enterprise" through the Behring Sea. 

383. Are you of opinion that if there be an open channel from Gateshead 
Island to Cape Bird, there is in that direction through Victoria Channel-a com­
plete passage by water ?-That is the only way in which the passage can be 

0.61. D 4 made, 
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made, as I conceive. After the two years in which Parry attempted to get from 
Melville Island to Banks's Land, and the two years in which Kellett attempted 
to get in that direction, and the three years in which M'Clure watched it on 
the other "'Side, and the one year which 1 looked at it in Prince of Wales Strait, 
1 think it may be said that, unless something very unusual occurs, there never 
will be a navigable passage in that direction; and, therefore, this remains the 
only one now that has not yet been tried with the same degree of determination 
which has been applied to the others. 

384. And the hummocks of ice, 20 feet high, of which you spoke do not 
present an insurmountable obstacle ?-They come down every year, and they 
gradually get to the southward and waste away; but unless there was a clear 
strait through there, those hummocks would never be of that size. 

385. Mr. Stephenson.] Was there any indication, from the formation of those 
hummocks, in what direction the pressure was made ?-The pressure was from 
the north-east; they were pressed upon the shore from a northern direction. 

386. Did they appear to be pressed by the current, or by the wind, or by 
both 1-1 should say both combined. 

3l:)i· You spoke of the tides being small and irregular; do you consider that 
they were lunar tides, or tides influenced by local winds or currents ?-The rise 
and fall was a lunar tide, but the current was so weak that it was overcome by 
the wind. 

APPENDIX. 
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YEAR 

OF DEPARTURE. 

1819-20 

1819 

1821 

1824 

1824 

1825 

1825 

1827 

1820 

1833 

1836 
) 

1837-8 

1845 

OFFICERS' NA.MES. 

Lieut. W. E. Parry 
Lieut. M. Liddon 

Lieut. Franklin -
Dr. Richardson -
Mr. R. Hood 
G. Back -

Captain Parry -
Lieut. G. Lyon -

Captain Parry -
Captain Hoppner 

Captain Lyon 

Captain Franklin 
Dr. Richardson -
Lieut. Back 
E. N. Kendall -

Cuptain Beechey 

Captain Parry -

Sir John Ross -

Captain Back 

Captain Back 

Dease and Simpson • 

Sir J. Franklin -
Captain Crozier -
Com. J. Fitzjames 

A P PEN D I X. 

No. I.-RETURN from the ADMIRALTY relative to ARCTIC DISCOVERIES since the Year 1819. 

SHIP'S NAME. 

" Hep.la" 
" Griper" 

} Land Expol' ••• 

"Fury" II' 
" Hecla 

" Hecla" 
"Fury" -

" Griper" 

} Lond E'pod" ••• 

"Blossom" 

" Hecla" 

- , "Victory" 

Land Expedition 

" Terror" 

WHEN SAILED. WHERE WINTERED. COASTS DISCOVERED. 

8 May 
Ditto 

-1.\- -Winter Harbour in Melville Island, 26 
-J September. 

- - Shores of Lancaster Sound, Barrow 
Strait, Melville Sound, Banks Strait. 

- , 23 May -

: 1}8 May -

: 1}8 May • 

16 June -

Fort Enterprize • I
f' -Coronation Gulf and Bathurst Inlet. 

- .) American Coast from Coppermine River 
l to Point Turnegain. 

{
- - Melville Peninsula, Fury and Hecla 

• , Strait. 

f --Port Bowen, 27 Sept. "Fury" lost, 
- 'j 21 August, 1825, on Fury Point, in 

L Prince Regent's Inlet. 

• - Eastern shores of Melville Peninsula, 
and those of the Strait of Fury and 
Hecla. 
- - Shores of Prince Regent's Inlet to 

about 72° South. 

Part of Southampton Island· 

_ ,{16 Feb., and N. 
York 15 March {

- - American Coast west of the Mackenzie 
- - Fort Franklin, Great Bear Lake, on I to Return Reef, and east to the Copper. 
6 September I mine River. 

- , 19 May 

- , 23 May - - , Felix Harbour, Boothia 

February, 1833· 1833-4 at Fort Reliance 

Off Southampton Island 14 June 

r - -American const, from Icy Cape to 
- l Point Barrow. 

r --Shores of Boothia and Strait of James 
- . L Ross. 

Course and estuary of Back River 

- , H. B. Company's Do. I G June Fort Confidence - 1
--Arctic Coast, between Point Barrow 
and Return Reef in the West, nnd between 

- • Point Turnagain and Back River in the 
East, with an opposite portion of Vic­
toria Land. 

-II " Erebus ,. 
: J "Terror" 

:}ll .Tune 1845 

1
--Last trace of in April 1846, at Beechey 
Island, also table plate, &c., found at the 

_ I mouth of Back River, by natives,in 1850, 
and obtained from Esquimaux in July 
1854, and brought home by Dr. Rae. 

RETURNED HOlliE. 

September 1820. 

July 1822. 

October 1823. 

October 1825. 

November 1824. 

September 1827. 

12 October 1828. 

October 1827. 

October 1833. 

September 1835. 
'II 

November 1837. 
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Year of 

Depar­

ture. 

1848 

1848 

1848 

1849 

1850 

1850 

1850 

Officers' Names. 

Com. T. E. L. Moore -
Captain Kellett, C.B. 

Sir James Ross 
Captain E. J. Bird 

Sir John Richardson 
Dr. Rae 

Mr. Saunders 

Captain CoJlinson, C.B.­
Lieut. Phayr. 

Jago -
" Parkest 

J. W. Skead­
G. Fowler 

Com. Pullen -
Lieut. Hooper 

Com. Maclure t 

Lieut. Haswell 
Creoswell 
Wynniett 

Captain Austin, c.n. 
Captain Ommaney 
Lieut. S. Osborn -

W. H. Browne 
" G. F. Mecham 
" J. B. Cator -

Mr. V. Hamilton -
" C. Eeles 
" F. I. Krabbe -

Lieut. R. D. Aldrich 
" F. L. M'Clintock 

Mr. A. R. Bradford 
R. B. Pearse -

" W. W. May -
" W. B. Sbellaheer -
" J. P. Cheyne-
" R. C. Allen -

G. F. M'Dougal 

Ship's Name. 

- I ., Plover" 
.. "Herald" 

-'" Enterprize" _ U Investigator" 

: } Land Expedition 

" North Star" 

., Enterprise" 

:} I Boat Vogage • 

.. Investigator" 

H.M.S. " Resolute," 

and 

" Assistance ;" 

with 

No. 2.-A ReT leD I S Co V E R I E S. 

C 0 A S T SSE ARC H E D. 

Where Wintered. 

NAME. 

-~------
I
Extent in 

Miles. 

- I Kamcbatka, Cbamisso Is. - I Coast East of Point Barrow 
- Returned to Survey. 

~ } I Port Leopold 

W obtenholm Sound -

Mackenzie River 

{

Maxwell Bay, Coast of Pro R. } 
- , Inlet, N. & W. Coast of N. -

Somerset. 
• ,{Bet~een ~ackenzie and Copper. } 

mme RIver. 700 

,= 

N. America, Banks Land - 658 
18 

786 
315 
135 

TOTAL - - - I 1,912 

From Icy Cape to Cape Bathurst 1,000 

Newly Discovered. 

~. 

~:E 
~Ul 

:.~ 
Q<I:: 

138 
2 

156 
82 

8 
35 

Mercy Bay, Banks Land {
Coasts of Banks Land and ,=} 960 I{coast of Banks Land, and Prince 1 

-, Maclure Strait. Albert's Land - • • f' -

Griffith and Cornwallis Is­
lands -

420 
326 
480 

TOTAL - - - I 1,226 

Coasts and Islands of 
America -

- -I - . 

~,~ 

= 
480 
506 
375 
474 
198 

175 
226 

205, -
70 

ISO 
80 

70 
40 

155 
of North Somerset and ,_ 
Cornwallis Island _ 

.. Pioneer" and" Intrepid" 

Tenders. 

550 
760 
669 
208 
416 
245 
136 
181 
338 

Miles of Coast westward} 

95 

When 
returned 
Home. 

• ,. Nov. 1849. 

Nov. 1848. 

REMARKS. 

- - Jan. 18, Commander 
Maguire Bucceeded 
Commander Moore, 
in the" Plover," and 
wintered 1852-3. re­
turningbome in 1855. .. 

{
Carrying Provisions 

1850 • • I for Sir James Ross. 

May 1855. 

1854. 

Sept. 1851. 

Sept. 1851. 

-Of Left Winter Cove Prince Alhert's Land on 12 April,-16 May, arrived at Cape Providence, Melville Is., after 34 days' journey. t Besides Jonrney to Melville Island of 800 miles. 
:I: Left Mel'CY Bay 11 APr,-arrived 26 April at Cape Providence, after 15 days' journey. . . 
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SELECT COMMITTEE ON ARCTIC EXPEDITIOR 

LETTER from Lady Franklin to W. A. Mackinnon, Esq., M.P., Chairman. 

Sir, 60, Pall Mall, 6 July 1855. 
I VENTURE to trespass a few minutes on your time and that of the Committee over 

which you preside, in behalf of the claims of my late husband, Sir John Franklin, and his 
companions, as connected with the subject you have under discussion. 

When it is remembered that thcse brave and unfortunate men, after years of intense 
privations and suffering. were found dead of starvation upon n spot which they could not 
have reached without having first solved that geographical problem which was the object and 
aim of all these painful efforts, and when it is also rcmembered that they are beyond the 
reach of their country's rewards, you will not, I think, refuse them the just acknowledgment 
that is due to their memories. 

It would ill become me, and is far indeed from my wisb, to attempt to question the 
claims of Captain M'Clure to every honour his country may think proper to award him. 
That enterprising officer is not the less the discoverer of a North-west Passage, or, in other 
words, of one of the links which was wanted to connect the main channels of navigation 
already ascertained by previous explorers, because the "Erebus" and" Terror" under my 
husband had previously, though unknown to Captain M'Clure, discovered another and a 
more navigable passage; that passage, in fact, which if ever ships attempt to push their way 
from one ocean to the other, will assuredly be the one adopted. And it can never be 
denied to Captain M'Clure that he is the first who has by his own skill, and by means of 
the timely assistance of the brave men who were in search of him, made his individual way 
from one ocean to the other. Such a transit, though not the object which has engaged the 
attention of the civilised world for centuries, is a distinction of which any man may well be 
proud. 

What I presume to claim for those who can urge nothing for themselves is the first 
discovery of a navigable passage for ships in that unknown space which lay between thc 
discoTeries of former navigators, for to such connecting channel has the solution of the 

• geographical problem for many years past been reduced. My husband was specially 
warned by his instructions not to seek it in the quarter where the" Investigator" lies, lest 
impenetrable ice should, as was anticipated, arrest his progress, and he found the passsage 
by acting (in conformity with his instructions) on those theoretical convictions which, as 
Sir John Richardson has shown, hc deliberately formed. 

Convinced, Sir, t.hat it mc:.ot be your desire, and that of the other honourable Members 
of the Committee, to do justice to the dead, while you duly and generously honour the 
living, and believing that these two objects do not clash, but may be harmoniously combined, 
I have presumed thus to address you. 

I trust you will pardon the widow and the friend this last effort in behalf of those 
who have nobly perished. 

I have, &c. 
(signed) Jane Franklin. 

F CHART. 

Appendix. 
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